Unveiling the Biological Role of Serglycin Proteoglycans

Studies on Serglycin Knock-Out Mice

Tiago Braga M. C. Carlos

Faculty of Veterinary Medicine and Animal Science Department of Anatomy, Physiology and Biochemistry Uppsala

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2008 Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2008:14

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN 978-91-85913-47-3 © 2008 Tiago Braga M. C. Carlos, Uppsala Tryck: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2008 Unveiling the Biological Role of Serglycin Proteoglycans -Studies on Serglycin Knock-Out Mice

Abstract

Serglycin (SG) proteoglycans (PG) are predominantly located intracellularly in secretory vesicles of hematopoietic cells such as macrophages, cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs), monocytes, basophils, neutrophils and mast cells (MCs). These PGs are characterized by their protease-resistant serine and glycine-rich core and also by their covalently attached negatively charged glycosaminoglycans (GAG) chains.

We showed that SG PGs are the dominant PGs species in CTLs where they contributed to proper sub-structural organization of the secretory vesicles. Furthermore, different granule-specific components exhibited distinct SG PG dependence for storage, where granzyme B levels were shown to be highly affected, while granzyme A or perform levels were not.

MCs are important immune cells that release preformed mediators upon activation. We confirmed that SG PGs are the major PG species in mucosal-like bone marrow-derived MCs (BMMCs) and their absence leads to defects in the granule organization and inability to store specific granule components (mMCP-5, CPA). However, mMCP-1 and mMCP-7 are not dependent on SG for storage.

SG-dependent granule compounds exert many functions in homeostasis and interactions between immune cells. We noted that older SG^{-/-} animals spontaneously developed enlarged peripheral lymphoid organs, namely the spleen and Peyer's patches. Additionally, investigations of the spleen cell population from SG^{-/-} revealed an increased population of CD45RC expressing cells but a reduction in CD4 positive cells.

Sorting of SG PGs into secretory vesicles is a poorly understood process. We showed that in the presence of a reducing agent, granules in SG^{+/+} BMMCs show a striking resemblance to those found in SG^{-/-} cells lacking a defined granular organization. Moreover, CPA's storage was shown to be affected by the presence of the reducing agent, possibly due to its interaction with intra-granular SG PGs.

Keywords: serglycin, hematopoietic cells, secretory granules, mast cells, cytotoxic T lymphocytes, immune system, inflammation,

Author's address: Tiago Braga M. C. Carlos, Department of Anatomy, Physiology and Biochemistry, sLU Box 575, 751 23 Uppsala, Sweden *E-mail:* Tiago.Braga@afb.slu.se

Dedication

To my family and friends...because you are the essence of my life

Whatever you think, be sure it is what you think, whatever you want, be sure that is what you want, whatever you feel, be sure that is what you feel. T.S.Elliot

Contents

| ist of Publications | | |
|--|------|--|
| Abbreviations | 7 | |
| Introduction | | |
| Genetically modified organisms | 9 | |
| The immune system | 10 | |
| Mast cells and cytotoxic T cells | 11 | |
| Glycobiology | 15 | |
| Proteoglycans | 15 | |
| Biosynthesis of proteoglycans | 17 | |
| Cell surface proteoglycans | 20 | |
| Extracellular matrix proteoglycans | 22 | |
| Proteoglycans in other physiologal contexts | 25 | |
| Intracellular proteoglycans - Serglycin | 27 | |
| The Serglycin gene | 27 | |
| Modifications of Serglycin | 28 | |
| Serglycin as storage matrix of intragranular components | 30 | |
| Serglycin and granule formation | 31 | |
| Serglycin and activation of granule components | 32 | |
| Turnover of exocytosed Serglycin | 33 | |
| Present investigations | 35 | |
| Aim | 35 | |
| Paper I: Serglycin-Deficient Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes Display Defec | tive | |
| Secretory Granule Maturation and Granzyme B Storage | 35 | |
| Paper II: Serglycin Proteoglycan is required for Secretory Granule | | |
| Integrity in Mucosal Mast Cells | 36 | |
| Paper III: Age-Related Enlargement of Lymphoid Tissue and Altered | | |
| Leukocyte Composition in Serglycin-Deficient Mice | 38 | |
| Paper IV: Reduction with Dithiothreitol Causes Serglycin-Specific | | |
| Defects in Secretory Granule Integrity of Bone Marrow Derive | d | |
| Mast cells. | 39 | |
| Concluding remarks | 41 | |
| References | 43 | |
| Acknowledgements | 59 | |

List of Publications

6

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Grujic M., Braga T., Lukinius A., Eloranta, ML., Knight, SD., Pejler, G., Abrink, M., (2005). Serglycin-deficient cytotoxic T lymphocytes display defective secretory granule maturation and granzyme B storage. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 280(39), 33411-8.
- II Braga, T., Grujic, M., Lukinius, A., Hellman, L., Abrink, M., Pejler, G., (2007). Serglycin proteoglycan is required for secretory granule integrity in mucosal mast cells. *Biochemical Journal* 403(1), 49 –57.
- III Wernersson, S., Braga, T., Sawesi, O., Nilsson, K., Pejler, G., Abrink, M., (2008). Age-related enlargement of lymphoid tissue and altered leukocyte composition in serglycin-deficient mice. *Manuscript*.
- IV Braga T., Tveit, H., Abrink, M., Ringvall, M., Pejler, G., Reduction with Dithiothreitol Causes Serglycin-Specific Defects in Secretory Granule Integrity of Bone Marrow Derived Mast Cells. *Manuscript*.

Papers I-II are reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

Abbreviations

| BMMC | Bone marrow-derived mast cell |
|--------|----------------------------------|
| CPA | Carboxypeptidase A |
| CS | Chondroitin sulfate |
| CD | Cluster of differentiation |
| СТМС | Connective tissue mast cell |
| CTL | Cytotoxic T-cell |
| DS | Dermatan sulfate |
| ECM | Extracellular matrix |
| ES | Embryonic stem |
| FGF | Fibroblast growth factor |
| Gal | Galactosamine |
| GlcA | Glucoronic Acid |
| GAG | Glycosaminoglycans |
| HS | Heparan sulfate |
| HexA | Hexuronic Acid |
| IdoA | Iduronic Acid |
| KS | Keratan sulphate |
| MC | Mast cell |
| MMP | Matrix metalloprotease |
| MMC | Mucosal mast cell |
| mMCP | Mouse mast cell protease |
| GalNAc | N-acetylgalactosamine |
| GlcNAc | N-acetylglucosamine |
| NDST | N-deacetylase/N-sulfotransferase |
| NK | Natural killer |
| PG | Proteoglycan |
| SG | Serglycin |
| | |

Introduction

Genetically modified organisms

The discovery that molecules of foreign DNA can exchange parts of its sequence with chromosomal DNA of mammalian cells through a process called homologous recombination (Smithies *et al.*, 1985) opened new "doors" in the world of science, providing a new and useful tool to understand many biological processes Taking advantage of this natural phenomenon, site-specific modifications could be introduced into the mouse genome and give rise to genetically modified animals ("knockout" if specific gene(s) are deleted; "knockin" if a gene is added).

Embryonic stem (ES) cells are characterized by their pluripotency which means that they can virtually differentiate into any kind of cell. When *in vitro* modified ES cells are placed together with a normal wild-type (WT or +/+) embryo, they will give rise to a "chimera", which is an embryo containing both modified and normal ES cells. This embryo is then implanted into the uterus of a breeding female and gives rise to genetically modified animals that will carry the genetic modification through subsequent generations.

This technique has been used to address many important questions such as the characterization of regulatory sequences in gene expression, to study the function of specific genes *in vivo*, to characterize functional properties of gene products, and ultimately to produce animal models of human diseases.

In the studies presented in this thesis, the role and characterization of the serglycin (SG) protein was addressed by taking advantage of the previously established SG knock-out (KO or -/-) mouse strain where the SG gene had been deleted in all cells in the whole organism.

The immune system

Everyday we find ourselves permanently in contact with a wide variety of microbes, ranging from viruses to bacteria and parasites. Our first line of defense comprises the skin and mucosal surfaces, which are efficient barriers in keeping these organisms outside the body. However, when microbes overcome these physical barriers, specialized cells are activated, triggering an immune response.

The immune system comprises two types of components, the innate and the acquired/adaptive response. Innate immunity is constituted of nonspecific physical (skin, mucus) and chemical barriers (saliva, hydrochloric acid in the stomach), which block the passage of foreign organisms into our body. The adaptive immune system is specifically directed towards a particular pathogen and its specificity and efficiency increases upon recurrent exposures to the pathogen.

Leukocytes (leuko - white; kytos - cell) or white blood cells are key effector cells involved in the immune defense of the organism. All white blood cells derive from pluripotent hematopoietic cells in the bone marrow, and two main groups of leukocytes can be distinguished. One group is the lymphocytes, comprising T-cells, B-cells and natural killer (NK) cells. The T-cells are involved in the killing and elimination of degenerated or infected cells, whereas B-cells are mainly involved in the production of antigen-specific antibodies. In contrast to T- and B-cells, mediators of the adaptive immune response, NK cells mediate the killing and destruction of tumor and virus-infected cells as part of the innate immune system. The second group of leukocytes consists of phagocytic cells such as macrophages and monocytes, and the granulocytes (eosinophils, basophils, mast cells (MCs) and neutrophils). While the main function of the phagocytic cells is to ingest and eliminate pathogens, they also serve as antigen-presenting cells to T-cells, constituting a link between the innate and acquired immune response.

Granulocytes designate all the cells that are characterized by the presence of cytoplasmatic granules which are known to serve as reservoirs of important mediators involved in inflammatory processes. Importantly, these vesicles display different staining properties towards specific dyes, reflecting dinstinc intra-granular contents.

Eosinophils show preference for anionic (acidic) dyes indicating the presence of basic components in their granules, whereas MCs and basophils stain metachromatically with cationic (basic) dyes due to the presence of



intra-granular negatively charged molecules. Moreover, lymphocytes and macrophages are also known to possess such vesicles although these are often not regarded as granulocytes. The study of the underlying mechanisms of granule secretion and organization is therefore crucial in order to increase the knowledge of the immune response.

Mast cells and cytotoxic T cells

In general, mature T lymphocytes express either CD4 or CD8 molecules, hence allowing the identification of $CD4^+$ T helper cells and $CD8^+$ cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs). CTLs are pivotal cells of the immune system where they monitor all the cells in the body, acting readily against any that is considered a threat to the host; for example, CTLs kill virally infected cells. Moreover, CTLs are known to act against tumor cells due to their ability of recognizing antigenic differences between transformed cells and healthy cells. After maturation in the thymus, CTLs express a unique cell-surface antigen-binding molecule called T cell receptor (TCR), that will recognize antigens bound to the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) I-derived molecules (Moss *et al.*, 1992). It is this highly specific interaction that enables CTLs to recognize malignant cell alterations and target them to destruction (Castelli *et al.*, 2000).

Upon recognition of an MHC-I-peptide complex on a target cell by their TCR, CTLs are triggered to deliver secretory products stored in specialized cytoplasmatic vesicles. These organelles store both lysossomal hydrolases which act at acidic pH, as well as other secretory compounds such as perforin, which functions at neutral pH (Peters et al., 1991). CTLs may destroy target cells by one of three mechanisms. Two of these involve direct cell-cell contacts between effector and target cells. The third is mediated by cytokines such as interferon- γ and tumor necrosis factor- α . Cytolytic activity involving cell-cell interactions can be mediated by two distinct mechanisms. In one case, CTLs release the lytic protein perforin and granzymes into the intercellular space. Perforin is able to integrate within the lipid bilayer of target cells where it polymerizes and creates pores in the membrane. The formation of such pores is regarded as essential for the granzymes to enter the cytosol of target cells. However, it has been shown that granzymes may be internalized independently of perforin possibly via receptor-mediated endocytosis (Froelich et al., 1996; Shi et al., 1997). The uptake of granular material by the target cell will cause cell death through a caspase-dependent or caspase-independent mechanism (Trapani & Smyth, 2002). Eleven granzymes have been identified in mice, and five in humans (Grossman et al., 2003; Revell et al., 2005), all with

different substrate specificities. The fact that granzymes may mediate apoptosis via alternative mechanisms targeting different substrates, contributes to the effectiveness of CTL-mediated killing.

The regulatory mechanism of these lytic proteins is well elaborated in that they only target and elicit their function in target cells. Firstly, they are released only upon contact of the CTLs with the target cell, and secondly, many of these components are only activated upon release, as they are kept in the secretory organelles in an inactive form. For example, perforin is only active at a neutral pH (Bashford *et al.*, 1988) and it is therefore kept inactive in the granules where the pH is acidic. Also, the presence of certain granule components that are able to entrap these molecules and release them upon activation has been documented. It has been demonstrated that after exocytosis, granzyme B was present as a complex with a proteoglycan (PG) and that this complex is able to induce apoptosis in target cells (Metkar *et al.*, 2002).

The other killing mechanism involves a protein called Fas ligand, which binds to its receptor Fas (or CD95) present in target cells, initiating a cascade of caspase cleaving events that quickly trigger apoptosis of the target cells.

MCs are highly granulated cells of the immune system and are usually located in the interface between the interior and the exterior environment, including the skin, airways and gastrointestinal tract. MCs progenitors arise from the hematopoietic stem cells in the bone-marrow (Kitamura et al., 1981) and migrate to tissues where different types of mature MCs arise due to the influence of local microenvironment factors. Based on their tissue location, granule content and PG content, murine MCs can be subdivided into two major subclasses: connective tissue MCs (CTMCs) and mucosal MCs (MMCs). CTMCs are located in connective tissues in the skin and in the peritoneal cavity and express tryptase, carboxypeptidase A (CPA), chymase, high levels of histamine and heparin PG. In contrast, MMCs are present in the lamina propria of the intestine and airways and are known to express chondroitin sulfate (CS) PGs, chymase, but lack tryptase and CPA. Human MCs can also be divided into two major subclasses according to their protease content. MC_rs contain only tryptase and they are situated in the lamina propria of the airways and gastrointestinal tract, while MC_{TC} s contain both tryptase and chymase and are found predominantly in the skin (Miller & Pemberton, 2002; Schwartz, 1994).

| | Mouse | | Human | |
|--------------|---------|--------|-----------------|-----------------------------|
| | CTMC | MMC | MC _T | $\mathbf{MC}_{\mathrm{TC}}$ |
| Turnetaaa | mMCP-6 | | + | + |
| 1 ryptase | mMCP-7 | | Т | Т |
| Chymase | mMCP-4 | mMCP-1 | | + |
| | mMCP-5 | mMCP-2 | - | т |
| Proteoglycan | Heparin | CS | Heparin/CS | Heparin/CS |
| CPA | + | _ | _ | + |

Table 1. Mast cell heterogeneity in human and mouse

Activation of MCs may occur by several mechanisms. The classical way of activating MCs is through their high affinity IgE receptor, FcERI, present on the cell surface, leading to the release of a broad range of MC mediators stored in secretory granules. Furthemore, MCs can be activated by IgG receptors, complement proteins namely C3 and C5a (Johnson *et al.*, 1975) and toll-like receptors (Kulka *et al.*, 2004; Marshall *et al.*, 2003; Supajatura *et al.*, 2002). In addition, molecules such as substance P, neurotensin, compound 48/80, calcium ionophores can directly activate MCs (Metcalfe *et al.*, 1997).

MC granules contain an abundance of mediators that elicit several functions upon release from the secretory vesicles (histamine, PGs, neutral proteases, lipid mediators and preformed cytokines).

Histamine is possibly the most well-known MC mediator. The physiological effects of histamine include vascular permeability, stimulation of smooth muscle contraction, bronchoconstriction and increased mucus secretion (Bachert, 2002). Moreover, studies using histidine decarboxylase (an enzyme involved in the formation of histamine)-deficient mice demonstrated the importance of histamine in other processes such as angiogenesis (Ghosh *et al.*, 2002) and gastric acid secretion (Tanaka *et al.*, 2002).

MCs also produce a multitude of cytokines. Preformed MC-derived cytokines include TNF- α , IL-3, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-13 and TGF- β (Ishizuka *et al.*, 1999a; Ishizuka *et al.*, 1999b; Kobayashi *et al.*, 2000; Okayama *et al.*, 1995; Razin *et al.*, 1991). MCs cytokines may regulate several functions of other inflammatory cells, giving the MC a very

important role in interplay with other cells involved in the immune response.

The lipid mediators, leukotrienes and prostaglandins, are products derived from arachinodic acid. MCs express predominantly prostaglandin D2 which can act as a vasodilator and bronchoconstrictor (Johnston *et al.*, 1995), and also promotes accumulation of inflammatory cells. Upon activation, MCs synthesize the cysteinyl leukotrienes LTC_4 , LTD_4 and LTE_4 . These potent mediators are known to play important roles in several biological processes such as bronchoconstriction (Dahlen *et al.*, 1980), leukocyte recruitment (Medeiros *et al.*, 1999), vascular leakage (Beller *et al.*, 2004) and induction of cytokine production (Mellor *et al.*, 2002; Mellor *et al.*, 2003).

Up to 35% of the total protein content in mast cells corresponds to neutral proteases (Schwartz *et al.*, 1987). One of these proteases is CPA, which is a Zn^{2+} -dependent exopeptidase that preferably cleaves substrates that possess C-terminal aromatic or aliphatic residues (Goldstein *et al.*, 1989). Due to its highly negative charge, CPA is found tightly bound to heparin PGs within the MC granule (Serafin *et al.*, 1987) and its activation has been shown to be highly dependent on these PGs species (Henningsson *et al.*, 2002). The biological effects of CPA are many, and include degradation of apolipoprotein B of low density lipoprotein (Kokkonen *et al.*, 1986), degradation of endothelin-1 (Metsarinne *et al.*, 2002) and formation and degradation of angiotensin II (Lundequist *et al.*, 2004).

Chymases are serine proteases with chymotrypsin-like substrate specificity, cleaving substrates at sites following aromatic residues (Powers *et al.*, 1985). Chymases are stored as active proteins in the MCs granules but they are synthesized as inactive precursors. The activation of pro-chymase occurs by the removal of a dipeptide by dipeptidyl peptidase I (Wolters *et al.*, 2001). Chymase has been implicated in a wide range of biological events that include attraction of neutrophils and eosinophils (He & Walls, 1998), extracellular coagulation and fibrinolysis (Tchougounova *et al.*, 2001), fibronectin, plasmin and thrombin degradation (Tchougounova *et al.*, 2003) and together with CPA, in the processing of angiotensin I to angiotensin II (Chandrasekharan *et al.*, 1996; Lundequist *et al.*, 2004).

Tryptases constitute a family of serine proteases characterized by their trypsin-like substrate specificity. Similarly to chymases, tryptases are stored in MC granules as active enzymes. Tryptases described in mice MCs include mouse MC protease (mMCP)-6, mMCP-7, mMCP-11 and mouse

transmembrane tryptase. There are two main types of human MCs tryptases: α -tryptase and β -tryptases, where the latter is the main type expressed in human. Expression of tryptases differs between human and rodents in that all human MCs express tryptase, whereas in mice, tryptase is only found in CTMCs. Tryptase has been suggested to be involved in many biological processes. Bronchiodilating neuropeptides such as VIP (vasoactive intestinal peptide) and calcitonine gene-related peptide (Caughey *et al.*, 1988) have been shown to be degraded by tryptase leading to increase bronchial responsiveness and to other asthma-related events. Furthemore, tryptase has been suggested to play a role in atherosclerosis by degrading high-density lipoprotein (Lee *et al.*, 2002). Tryptase also cleaves fibronectin (Lohi *et al.*, 1992) and gelatin (Fajardo & Pejler, 2003), thus pointing to a role in tissue remodeling and angiogenesis.

Glycobiology

Carbohydrates are the most abundant biomolecules occurring in nature. Due to their structural diversity, they have numerous roles in living organisms, such as the storage of energy and as fundamental building blocks of structural components. Furthermore, important biomolecules such as lipids, nucleic acids and proteins contain sugar residues as an integral part of their composition in many living organisms, reflecting the biological importance of carbohydrates. Proteins carrying a carbohydrate portion are the most common glycoconjugates, termed glycoproteins, where the carbohydrate portion is linked to the protein by means of glycosyl linkages.

Proteoglycans

PGs comprise a wide range of macromolecules found distributed almost everywhere throughout the body. The structural diversity of PGs suggests that they are involved in a multitude of functions and several studies have demonstrated their importance in biological processes due to their ability to interact with a vast variety of biomolecules, namely proteins and components of the extracellular matrix (ECM) (Handel *et al.*, 2005; Iozzo, 2005; Kinsella *et al.*, 2004).

PGs are molecules containing long, unbranched polysaccharide chains (glycosaminoglycans or GAGs) covalently attached to a protein core. These GAG chains are composed of repeated disaccharide units, where each unit

is composed of one alternating amino sugar [N-acetylgalactosamine (GalNAc) or N-acetylglucosamine (GlcNAc)] bound to either a hexuronic acid [HexA, either glucoronic acid (GlcA) or iduronic acid (IdoA)] or to galactosamine (Gal). Importantly, the sugar chains are found attached to the serine (Ser) or threonine residues of the core protein through an O-glycosidic bond (Bernfield *et al.*, 1999; Kjellen & Lindahl, 1991). There is an enormous diversity among PG species due to the variation of the core protein to which the GAG chains are attached, heterogeneity of GAG sulfation and length of the GAG chains. Furthermore, the number of GAG chains bound to the core protein may range from one to more than 100, varying between different types of PG species (Kjellen & Lindahl, 1991; Silbert & Sugumaran, 1995).

In addition to carrying single or multiple GAG chains, several PGs can accommodate GAG chains of more than one type (hybrid PGs), which further accounts for the extreme diversity of these molecules (Rapraeger *et al.*, 1985; Sugahara *et al.*, 1992). Although the underlying mechanism behind this feature is still poorly understood, previous studies have suggested that the amino-acid sequences of the core protein located in defined patches adjacent to the GAG binding site may play an important role (Chen & Lander, 2001; Esko & Zhang, 1996).

PGs can be defined by both their core protein as well as by the GAG side chains attached. According to the repeated disaccharide unit present, PGs can be divided into three main classes: heparan sulfate/heparin, keratan sulfate, and chondroitin sulfate/dermatan sulfate (fig.1).



Figure 1. **Repeating disaccharide units of various GAGs.** Every unit is composed of uronic acid and an amino-sugar. Possible modifications of these basic units are represented by R (= H or SO₃) and R' (= H, COCH₃ or SO₃).

The GAG species CS and dermatan sulfate (DS) are termed galactosaminoglycans due to the presence of the N-acetyl-galactosamine residue in their composition. They are both derived from the same polymer -HexAβ1,3-GalNAcβ1,4-, where CS contains invariably GlcA while in DS some of the GlcA is epimerized to IdoA. They can accommodate sulfate groups in several positions of the disaccharide repeat unit, especially at positions 4 and 6 of GalNAc and position 2 of the hexuronic acid. Heparan sulfate (HS) and heparin both possess the same basic structure composed of repeating disaccharide units of HexA α/β 1,4-GlcNAc α 1,4. The uronic acid can be either GlcA or IdoA, and the GlcN is either free, N-acetylated (GlcNAc) or N-sulfated (GlcNS). As in CS/DS, both HexA and GlcN residues in HS/heparin can be modified with sulfate groups. The extent of epimerization of GlcA to IdoA and the degree of sulfation of the disaccharide units is used as the base to distinguish HS from heparin and CS from DS.

Keratan sulfate (KS) lacks the HexA unit, where the two repeating sugars are GlcNAc and Gal (-Gal β 1,4-GlcNAc β 1,4-), having variable carbohydrate lengths and sulfation patterns. Two patterns of KS can be distinguished: KS I, which binds through an N-glycosyl linkage to the asparagine residues of the core protein, and KS II, which is found attached to a serine or threonine residue through an O-glycosyl linkage (Choi & Meyer, 1975). Hyaluronan is the only GAG that is synthesized in a free form, i.e, not covalently attached to a core protein. Its non-sulfated structure is made up of repeating disaccharide units of GlcA and GlcNAc (-GlcA β 1,3-GlcNAc β 1,4-).

Biosynthesis of proteoglycans

The biosynthesis of GAG chains takes place in the Golgi apparatus and consists of a multi-step mechanism involving the combined action of an extensive enzymatic machinery (Esko & Lindahl, 2001; Lindahl *et al.*, 1998; Prydz & Dalen, 2000). The first part of CS/DS and heparin/HS chain polymerization involves the formation of the linker tetrasaccharide (xylose-galactose-galactose-GlcA). The formation of this linkage oligosaccharide starts with the transfer of a xylose from UDP-xylose onto the hydroxyl

group of a serine residue in the core protein and occurs during the transfer of the latter from the rough endoplamic reticulum to the cis-Golgi compartment (Lohmander *et al.*, 1989; Vertel *et al.*, 1993). Completion of the linkage tetrasaccharide involves the addition of two galactose units from UDP-galactose and the last member, GlcA is added by the enzyme glucoronosyltransferase I (Sugahara *et al.*, 2003). Once the linker tetrasaccharide is completed, the addition of the fifth saccharide unit determines whether the GAG chain becomes CS/DS or heparin/HS. This involves the action of either of the two distinct transferases, GlcNAc transferase or GalNAc transferase, resulting in the initiation of either CS/DS sulfate or heparin/HS sulfate, respectively (Lander & Selleck, 2000; Sugahara *et al.*, 2003), as shown in fig.2.



Figure 2. A general scheme representing the key steps in the synthesis of chondroitin sulfate, dermatan sulfate, heparin and heparan sulfate GAGs.

In the case of heparin/HS, the chain is elongated through the action of GlcNAc and GlcA transferases (EXT1 and EXT2) and subsequently modified. The first modification reaction involves the enzyme Ndeacetylase/N-sulfotransferase (NDST) and replaces N-acetyl groups on GlcNAc units with N-sulfated groups. This modification is extremely important since subsequent modifications can only take place in the proximity of N-sulfate groups. Four isoforms of the enzyme family of NDSTs have been identified in mice (Aikawa et al., 2001; Eriksson et al., 1994; Hashimoto et al., 1992) : NDST-1 and NDST-2, expressed in embryonic and adult tissue; and NDST-3 and NDST-4 predominantly expressed during embryogenesis. Previous studies have shown that NDST-2 is involved in the generation of longer GAG chains with higher N-sulfate content when compared with NDST-1 (Pikas et al., 2000). Heparin is mainly expressed in rodent CTMCs and CTMCs from mice lacking NDST-2 showed impairment in the storage of MC-specific proteases, namely CPA, mMCP-4, mMCP-5 and mMCP-6. Moreover, it was shown that some of the proteases require the presence of heparin to exert their biological role. For example, tryptase is dependent on heparin in the activation of biologically important tetramers, while the chymase-heparin complex was shown to play an important role in extravascular coagulation (Hallgren et al., 2000; Tchougounova et al., 2001; Tchougounova & Pejler, 2001). NDST-1 deficiency, on the other hand, was shown to lead to defects in lung and skull causing embryonic death, and also to a decrease in HS in basement membranes indicating that this enzyme is important in HS synthesis (Fan et al., 2000; Ringvall et al., 2000).

Once the modification reactions are initiated by an NDST, the other enzymes are able to catalyze the subsequent steps of the GAG chain synthesis. Further modifications steps include the C5-epimerization of GlcA to IdoA, 2-O-sulfation of IdoA and GlcA and 6-O-sulfation of GlcNS and GlcNAc residues. Occasionally, other modifications can occur, such as the 3-O-sulfation of GlcNSO₃. Regions where the GlcNAc residues are not deacetylated remain almost unmodified while regions modified by NDSTs are extensively modified. The end result is that heparin is highly sulfated, whereas HS is sulfated to a less extent. However, HS can be highly sulfated in defined blocks.

Although both HS/heparin and CS/DS biosynthesis are initiated by the common linker tetrasaccharide, elongation and modification of CS/DS

involves different enzymes than those involved in HS/heparin synthesis. The addition of the initial GalNAc from UDP-GalNAc onto the linkage oligosaccharide is mediated by distinct enzymes (CS polymerases) (Rohrmann *et al.*, 1985). Subsequent chain elongation then requires two glysosyltransferase enzymes to add the alternating residues of GlcA and GalNAc. In DS, like in HS, the generation of IdoA units occurs by epimerization at C5 of a portion of GlcA residues of the chain (Malmstrom, 1984; Malmstrom & Fransson, 1975). Additionally, distinct sulfotransferases (STs) add sulfate groups to the chain backbone residues usually of either the 4- and/or 6-hydroxyl of the GalNAc residues and at C2 of GlcA and IdoA. Eight CS/DS STs have been identified so far, one 2-O-ST, three 6-O-STs and four 4-O-ST (reviewed in (Kusche-Gullberg & Kjellen, 2003)).

Cell surface proteoglycans

Cells need to build barriers that allow them to separate from other cells and also from the surrounding environment. At cell surfaces, two major families of membrane-bound HSPGs are found: the syndecans and the glypicans (fig.3).



Figure 3. Representative scheme of cell-surface associated PGs. Heparan sulfate (light blue) and chondroitin sulfate (red) are the most common glysoaminoglycan chains found in these PGs.

Syndecans are type I transmembrane HSPGs forming a group of extracellular effector molecules harboring primarily, but not exclusively, HS

chains (Bernfield *et al.*, 1992). They possess an extracellular domain with GAG attachment sites, a hydrophobic transmembrane domain and a short cytoplasmatic domain. So far, four mammalian syndecans (syndecan-1 to -4) have been identified and cloned (Mali *et al.*, 1990; Pierce *et al.*, 1992; Saunders *et al.*, 1989). The extracellular domain contains several Ser-Gly sequences where GAG chains bind and an N-terminal signal peptide that targets the extracellular domain outside the cell. Syndecan-1 and -3 exhibit two clusters bearing GAG attachment sites while syndecan-2 and -4 only possess one located near the plasma membrane. Syndecan-1 and -4 can, in addition to HS, bear CS chains (Carey, 1997). Sequences of transmembrane and cytoplasmatic domains, as well as GAG attachment sites have been shown to be highly conserved between all the syndecan family members and species.

Syndecans have been shown to be involved in many biological functions such as cell-cell and cell-matrix adhesion and signaling. A vast range of extracellular proteins can bind to syndecan-1, via its HS chains, thus serving as a matrix receptor. Among the ECM components that can bind to syndecan, we can find collagen types I and III (Koda et al., 1985), fibronectin (Saunders & Bernfield, 1988) and laminin (Elenius et al., 1990). Furthermore, the cytoplasmatic domain of syndecans are known to engage in interactions with intracellular components and are involved in processes such as cytoskeleton organization (Grootjans et al., 1997) or in signaling pathways in response to antibody ligation (Carey et al., 1996). Syndecans can also modulate the action of several growth factors. Growth factors such as fibroblast growth factor (FGF) family members, vascular endothelial growth factor (Gitay-Goren et al., 1992), hepatocyte growth factor (Ashikari et al., 1995) and others are known to bind to extracellular HS chains. Syndecan-1, -3 and -4 have been shown to bind specifically FGF-2 (Kiefer et al., 1990) while syndecan-3 can bind to heparin-binding growthassociated molecule (Kinnunen et al., 1996). Besides growth factors and cell adhesion molecules, syndecans are also found to bind other extracellular ligands which include low-density lipoprotein (Saxena et al., 1990) acting as a lipoprotein receptor, or serine proteases and their inhibitors (serpins) (Kainulainen et al., 1998). Moreover, tissue repair processes require regulated action of extracellular factors and proteases that can be modulated and activated by the presence of syndecans in the wound repair site. Virtually all tissues and cells express at least one syndecan, although some cells and tissues can express multiple family members (Kim et al., 1994).

Glypicans constitute a family of HSPGs that are linked to the exocytoplasmatic membrane through a glysosylphosphatidylinositol-anchor (David, 1993). Unlike syndecans, glypicans have their GAG attachment site located in close proximity to the cell surface. One striking feature of the glypican family is the presence of two to five consensus regions for insertion of GAG chains near the C-terminal and also the high degree of conservation of their primary polypeptide sequences. Six known glypicans have been identified (glypican-1 to -6) in mammals (David et al., 1990; Saunders et al., 1997; Stipp et al., 1994). HS is the only GAG chain type known to be bound to glypicans in vivo, although in vitro experiments indicated that the insertion of CS chains is also possible (Saunders et al., 1997). With regard to their expression, glypican-1 and -4 are known to be expressed in a large number of embryonic and adult tissues (Litwack et al., 1998; Veugelers et al., 1998), glypican-2 only in developing nervous system (Stipp et al., 1994), glypican-3 is widely expressed during development (Li et al., 1997) and glypican-5 expression is restricted to the nervous system, limb and kidney (Saunders et al., 1997).

Glypicans, like syndecans, can also bind to FGF-2 and other heparinbinding growth factors (Brunner *et al.*, 1994; Steinfeld *et al.*, 1996). Furthermore, glypicans can also interact with molecules involved in cell adhesion and migration as, for example, the glypican-1 interaction with laminin (Carey *et al.*, 1993), and influence the extension process in Schwann cells. Although most of the reported interactions of glypicans with other components are associated with the GAG chains, it has been postulated that the core proteins could exert some GAG-independent functions (Stipp *et al.*, 1994). The reason for such an assumption resides in the fact that the protein sequence of the core protein of glypicans is highly conserved within all members of the glypican family (Karthikeyan *et al.*, 1992; Veugelers *et al.*, 1998) and that the insertion sites of GAG chains are only found near the C-terminus.

Extracellular matrix proteoglycans

Perlecan is one of the most studied and best-characterized PG and it is found in all basement membranes and many extracellular matrices (Hassell *et al.*, 2002; Iozzo *et al.*, 1994).



Figure 4. Schematic representation of perlecan and agrin, two well-characterized extracellular matrix-associated PGs.

The perlecan core protein (fig.4) contains five domains: one unique domain located at the N-terminal region and four other domains that are also found in other proteins. Studies using recombinant domain I expressed in several cell types demonstrated that this N-terminal domain contains three potential sites that can support both HS and CS chains.

Perlecan can be found in many extracellular matrices and it has been shown to interact with other ECM components. It has been reported that perlecan's core protein as well as its HS chains bind to fibronectin and laminin (Isemura *et al.*, 1987). Another ECM molecule shown to interact with perlecan is thrombospondin, which is localized at the cell surface of endothelial cells, and this interaction is dependent on perlecan's HS chains (Vischer *et al.*, 1997). Besides ECM components, perlecan is known to engage in interactions with several growth factors and cytokines. FGF family members were shown to require heparin or HS binding in order to be activated by their receptors. It appears that perlecan plays a very important role in the regulation of FGF stimulation not only through the binding of FGF directly to the HS chains, but also in being able to capture the growth factor in the basement membrane (Whitelock *et al.*, 1996). Moreover, platelet-derived growth factor (Gohring *et al.*, 1998),

transthyretin (Smeland *et al.*, 1997) and interferon- γ (Lortat-Jacob *et al.*, 1991) display binding properties towards perlecan molecules. There has also been demonstrated a role for perlecan in cell-matrix adhesion interactions through its binding to integrin family members, particularly β 1 and β 3 integrins, which are critical for the proper formation of the basement membrane structure.

Agrin (fig.4) is a molecule that plays a key role in the aggregation of acetylcholine receptors during the development of the neuromuscular junction during embryogenesis (Nitkin et al., 1987). Agrin consists of a 225 kD core protein containing two or possibly three HS side chains and the core protein possesses certain domains that are found in several other matrix proteins, such as laminin and perlecan (Bork & Patthy, 1995; Rupp et al., 1991). Serine residues located at the N-terminal can serve as attachment sites for both HS and CS, although not all Ser-Gly sequences are substituted with GAG chains. One important feature in agrin is its splice variants and there are three alternate splicing sites, one located near the N-terminus, and the other two near the C-terminus of the core protein. Agrin is expressed in the basement membranes and extracellular matrices of a wide range of tissues which include neuronal, muscle and kidney (Bowe & Fallon, 1995). Agrin has been implicated in ionic filtration mechanisms in the kidney where it is the major HSPG found in the glomerular basement membrane (Groffen et al., 1998; Raats et al., 1998). Additionally, agrin has been shown to play an important role in cell-cell interactions and as a stabilizer of the basement membrane due to the ability of its HS chains to interact with components such as laminin and fibronectin. Furthermore, it has been implicated in the clustering of acetylcholine receptors in the synaptic basement membrane (Ma et al., 1993).

Collagen XVIII is an ubiquitous basement membrane component, detected in all vascular and epithelial basement membranes. It belongs to the non-fibrillar group of collagens which are characterized by their heterogenic structure but share in common the presence of one or more non-collagenous sequences that interrupt the collagenous sequence. Collagen XVIII, like collagens IX and XII, contain Ser-Gly sequences that are potential attachment sites for GAG side chains. Nevertheless, unlike collagens IX and XII, which are sensitive to chondroitinase ABC indicating the presence of CS or DS side chains, collagen XVIII is resistant to chondroitinase ABC digestion (Oh *et al.*, 1994). Studies showed the presence of numerous acidic residues in the core protein flanking the Ser-Gly attachment sites, characteristic of HSPG.

Like agrin and perlecan, collagen XVIII is involved in the ionic filtration in the kidney, where it is found in the glomerular basement membrane. It has also been suggested to play a role in the regulation of signaling between mesenchyme and epithelium during organ morphogenesis (Lin *et al.*, 2001). Collagen XVIII is known to exist in three splice variant forms, which are expressed differently in different tissues. A short form is found mainly in basement membranes of blood vessels and in muscle while a long variant is primarily expressed in the liver sinusoids. Each variant contains a different signal peptide accounting for its tissue-specific expression (Rehn *et al.*, 1996). Endostatin, a 20 kD polypeptide known to inhibit endothelial cell proliferation, is a product of the proteolytic cleavage of the C-terminal of collagen XVIII, and it may act as a potential inhibitor of angiogenesis and cell growth (O'Reilly *et al.*, 1997; Zatterstrom *et al.*, 2000).

Proteoglycans in other physiological contexts

Aggrecan is the large aggregating PG present in the cartilage and it is the first PG to have been identified and extensively characterized. Each aggrecan molecule possesses sulfated GAG chains and N- and O-linked oligosaccharides that account for up 90% of its mass. The large aggrecan core protein is commonly modified by the covalent attachment of approximately 100 CS chains, 30 KS chains and 8-10 shorter N- and O-linked oligosaccharides (Doege *et al.*, 1987). Aggrecan exerts a very important role in skeletal development and it is essential for the function of cartilage. Aggrecan molecules form large link protein-stabilized aggregates with hyaluronan in the ECM resulting in a unique structure able to entrap water molecules in this space. Due to its structural properties, aggrecan promotes the concentration of negative charges, maintaining cartilage hydration and endowing its characteristic resilience and ability to expand tissue volume.

Versican belongs to the family of large aggregating PGs named lecticans (Ruoslahti, 1996) and several versican core proteins have been identified due to the fact that it is expressed as several variants as a result of alternative splicing. The differences found in the isoforms reside in the middle portion of the core protein, where the GAG attachment sites are located. In versican V0, two CS-carrying portions are present, while the smaller V1 and V2 isoforms lack the GAG- α and GAG- β respectively. However, none of the GAG-binding sites are included in versican V3, and this isoform may

therefore not be a PG (Zako et al., 1995). As assessed by enzymatic digestion, the GAG chains present in versican family members were identified as being CS. Versican may interact with a number of different ligands either by specific core protein domains or by the GAG side chains. The most-well characterized interaction is between versican and hyaluronan, which involves the presence of link-protein, in analogy to the hyalorunan-aggrecan protein complex in cartilage (Morgelin et al., 1989). Data retrieved from several studies point to a role of versican PGs in a wide range of biological events, such as cell adhesion, proliferation and migration. It has been shown that versicans, more exactly isoforms V0 and V1 affect the binding of various types of cells to collagen I, fibronectin and laminin (Yamagata et al., 1989). This inhibition has been attributed to the interaction of the CS side chains with these ECM components, since chondroitinase ABC digestion abolished this effect. Furthermore, versican isoforms may also be involved in the control of cell proliferation specially in keratinocytes and dermal fibroblast proliferation (Zimmermann et al., 1994). In addition to their involvement in such processes, it has been demonstrated that an increased versican expression pattern is correlated with smooth muscle cell proliferation during the formation of atherosclerotic lesions (Matsuura et al., 1996).

Nervous tissues express many PGs. Although HSPGs can also be detected in detergent extracts of the membrane fraction of rat brain, 16 out of 25 putative PG core protein were identified as CSPGs (Herndon & Lander, 1990). Neurocan and brevican belong to the lectican family of CSPGs which include other members such as aggrecan and versican and they are both expressed in the nervous system in a highly specific manner (Rauch et al., 1991; Seidenbecher et al., 1995). Both neurocan and brevican share structural homologies with other members of the lectican family but the central domains show little homology with each other. Brevican is also called a "part-time" PG since it can be found in brain tissue without CS chains attached to the core protein (Yamaguchi, 1996). The interaction of these two CSPGs with other components has been established and neurocan is known to interact with N-CAM (Grumet et al., 1993), Nr-CAM and amphoterin (Milev et al., 1998) while brevican has been suggested to be a relevant ligand for tenascin-R (Hagihara et al., 1999). NG2 is another transmembrane CSPG expressed in the nervous system although it can be found in skeletal myoblasts, developing cartilage and aortic smooth muscle cells (Levine & Nishiyama, 1996) and is known to

interact with various ECM and cell surface molecules that include type V and type VI collagens (Stallcup *et al.*, 1990).

Decorin and biglycan are two highly homologous core proteins belonging to the superfamily of small leucine-rich PGs and can be present in non-glycosylated forms (Roughley *et al.*, 1993). They have N-terminal domains which contain CS/DS GAG chains, but decorin can accommodate only one chain while biglycan has two GAG chains. Decorin is mainly found in many connective tissues and it has been suggested to be important in organogenesis (Scholzen *et al.*, 1994) and regulation of cell division and differentiation (Yamaguchi *et al.*, 1990). Biglycan is, in contrary to decorin, found on the surfaces of differentiating cells and it has been shown to interact with type I collagen and also to C1q, and can therefore play a role in inflammation events (Hocking *et al.*, 1996).

CD44 is a so-called "part-time" PG and it is a cell surface glycoprotein where it can act as an adhesion molecule and signal transducer in the immune system (Haynes *et al.*, 1989; Lesley *et al.*, 1993). The GAG chains, when present, can be either CS or HS. Ligands for CD44 include ECM components such as hyaluronan (Aruffo *et al.*, 1990), fibronectin (Jalkanen & Jalkanen, 1992) and collagen types I and VI (Wayner & Carter, 1987).

Intracellular proteoglycans - Serglycin

PGs in intracellular cell compartments have been subject of increasing attention during the last years. The most important and the only known commited PG identified in intracellular locations so far is serglycin (SG). SG PGs are characterized by their unique protease-resistant, Ser and Gly rich protein cores, and by the covalently attached highly sulfated GAGs.

The Serglycin gene

The SG PG was first discovered as a secretory and membrane-associated product isolated from the rat L2 yolk sac carcinoma cell line (Oldberg *et al.*, 1981), and it was the first PG gene to be cloned (Bourdon *et al.*, 1985). Using a gene-specific probe of this cDNA, related transcripts were found to be expressed in a wide range of cells of hematopoietic origin containing

secretory granules (Tantravahi et al., 1986). The mouse SG gene, cloned and characterized from a mouse liver genomic library, consists of three exons separated by two introns (Avraham et al., 1989). The first exon consists of 41 base pairs and codes for the first 25 amino-acid residues, which comprise the signal peptide of the core protein. A large (~8 kb) intronic sequence follows before the second exon, which codes for the Nterminal part of the protein (48 amino-acids). The third and last exon is preceeded by an intronic sequence around 4 kb and encodes for a 79 amino-acid sequence that contains the GAG attachment site. The human SG gene consists of the same three exons as the mouse gene and both genes lack the classical TATA box. Also, the 5'-UTR of the human and mouse SG gene were found to share a high degree of similarity (96%) (Nicodemus et al., 1990) implying that the sequence contains numerous cis-acting regulatory elements that are essential for the expression of the gene in different cell types. These elements may, depending on the cell type, either induce or suppress the expression of the gene (Avraham et al., 1992). In fact, mouse MCs express at least three GATA factors (Zon et al., 1991) where GATA-2 was shown to be essential for the development of MCs from bone marrow progenitors (Tsai & Orkin, 1997) and other factors may be important for the transciption of some MC specific genes such as CPA (Zon et al., 1991) and the chymase gene (Caughey et al., 1997; Liao et al., 1997). Furthermore, the discovery that GATA-1, GATA-2 and/or GATA-3 are expressed in SG-containing cells (Martin et al., 1990) together with proved the existence of a conserved GATA motif within the SG gene (Nicodemus et al., 1990), suggests that DNA-binding proteins from the GATA family are involved in the transcription of the SG gene in hematopoietic cells. Interestingly, other cell types known not to express the SG gene do not express these transcription factors, but others such as GATA-4, GATA-5 and/or GATA-6.

Modifications of Serglycin

SG PGs examined to date show heterogeneity in molecular size due to variations in the number of chains per core and also the length and sulfation of each chain. The GAGs found attached to SG PGs are chondroitin 4-sulfate, chondroitin 6-sulfate, chondroitin 4,6-sulfate, CS B, HS or heparin that display different negative sulfation patterns, where heparin is the most negatively charged GAG found in the body (Kolset & Gallagher, 1990).

Table 2. Main GAG chains found in serglycin in storage granule cells (adapted from (Kolset & Tveit,2008))

| Type of GAG chain | Cell type |
|--|---|
| Chondroitin 4-sulfate | Platelets, monocytes, lymphocytes, NK cells |
| (GlcA-GalNAc 4-sulfate) | |
| Chondroitin 6-sulfate | Guinea pig platelets |
| (GlcA-GalNAc 6-sulfate) | |
| Chondroitin sulfate E | Mast cells, macrophages |
| (GlcA-GalNAc 4,6-sulfate) | |
| Chondroitin sulfate B | Rat basophils |
| (IdoA-2-sulfate-GalNAc 4 sulfate) | |
| Heparin/Heparan sulfate | Mast cells, macrophages |
| (GlcA/IdoA ± 2-O-sulfate-glucosamine ± N-sulfate and/or 3 and 6-O-sulfate | |

Variations in the GAG composition may be due to a cytokine-controlled event that appears to be not entirely dependent on the protein core. In fact, c-kit ligand/SCF and other fibroblast-induced factors induce mouse MCs to incorporate heparin onto SG (Levi-Schaffer et al., 1986), whilst IL-3 leads to the incorporation of chondoritin 4,6-sulfate onto the same core protein (Razin et al., 1982). Other PGs are known to possess a specific amino-acid sequence that determines the type of chains that will be attached to the protein core (Esko & Zhang, 1996). Since SG has only one GAGattachment region and any type of GAG can be attached to it (table 2), it is unlikely that the primary structure of SG determines which type of GAG to be polymerized onto the protein core. Consequently, posttranslational modifications of specific amino-acid residues in the SG protein core may dictate which type of GAG chain that will be synthesized. Depending on the cell type, different disaccharide units can be assembled onto the SG protein core. Basophils and MCs are known to contain highly sulfated GAG chains whereas NK cells and CTLs possess less sulfated GAGs attached to

the protein core. Interestingly, however, distinct subtypes of MCs present different GAG profiles, suggesting a role of the GAG structures as an indicator of cell differentiation. Despite these different MCs subtypes being involved in similar immunological events, CTMCs are known to express only heparin chains attached to the SG core and are the only cells able to do so, whilst MMCs contain GAGs of the CS type (Enerback et al., 1985). In contrast, human MCs can display both GAG types in the same MC subclass (Stevens et al., 1988). The use of gene-targeting approaches allowed a more thorough investigation regarding the mechanism and the enzymes involved in the GAG synthesis onto these PGs. Disruption of the NDST-2 gene led to severe defects in the storage of granule components in CTMCs, while CS-rich MMCs possessed normal granules. However, the levels of glycosyltransferases and sulfotransferases in MCs does not appear to be a determining factor when it comes to directing the synthesis of a particular GAG onto the protein core. Evidence for this fact came from studies where NDST-2 mRNA levels were found to be higher in MCs that predominantly express more CS on SG than heparin. Also, isolated rat peritoneal MCs were shown to possess all enzymes necessary for the synthesis of CS E even though they do not synthesize it onto SG protein cores (Stevens & Austen, 1982; Stevens et al., 1983).

Serglycin as storage matrix of intragranular components

The role of SG PGs as storage matrices for several cell components has been elucidated in recent years due to the generation of SG KO mice (Abrink et al., 2004) and MCs were the first cells to be used as a model to determine some of the functions of SG PGs. Because MC-derived SG PGs are the most negatively charged molecules in mammals, they are thought to be involved in the formation of macromolecular complexes with positively charged proteases in the granules. In this study, it was shown that CTMCs lacking SG had an abrogated ability to bind cationic dyes, indicating that SG PGs are the major PG species in the cytoplasmatic granules of CTMCs. Although mRNA expression of MC specific proteases was not affected by the absence of SG, defects were seen in the storage of these proteases, namely mMCP-4, mMCP-5, mMCP-6 and CPA. This is in accordance with the studies performed in the NDST-2-deficient MCs where, besides altered granule morphology and staining properties, protease storage was abrogated due to the lack of highly sulfated heparin chains. Further studies using SG KO mice revealed that elastase, a protease present in the azurophil granules of neutrophils, is dependent on SG PGs existing in the

cytoplasmatic granules of these cells to be properly stored. Interestingly, when injected with gram-negative bacteria (*Klebsiella pneumoniae*), the virulence was increased in SG KO mice when compared with wild-type mice indicating that also the immune response is affected by the absence of SG (Niemann *et al.*, 2007).

Serglycin and granule formation

Dense-core secretory granules are specialized organelles of endocrine, neuroendrocrine and other secretory cells that are responsible for the regulated secretion of several cargo molecules. More specifically, hematopoietic cells are known to store a wide range of specific mediators that upon activation are released to the site of action where they exert their biological functions. Granule components such as hormones, peptides and other enzymes are packaged into secretory granules at the trans-Golgi network through a complex and well regulated mechanism. The correct targeting and packaging of such mediators is of crucial importance for the proper assembly of a functional secretory vesicle. Dense-core secretory vesicles share a distinct characteristic in that their core that appears dark or dense in electron micrographs.

SG was seen to co-localize with the Golgi apparatus in immature human neutrophils (Niemann et al., 2004) but was absent in cells with a higher degree of maturation, suggesting that SG may play a role in early events of granule formation. Importantly, the packaging and segregation of particular granule components may require the presence of SG for the correct accommodation of these mediators into secretory vesicles. The role of SG in granule formation was also studied in bone-marrow derived CTMCs where it was seen that lack of SG did not interfere with the formation of secretory vesicles (Henningsson et al., 2006). Interesting, however, was the observation that SG mRNA levels could already be detected at day 0 of bone-marrow cultures suggesting that SG may play a role also in early events of hematopoietic cell development. Further studies on neutrophils revealed that lack of SG leads to defects only in one type of granules, the azurophil granules, whereas other secretory vesicles were not affected (Niemann et al., 2007). This indicates that within a cell type there seems to exist heterogeneity within secretory vesicles, where SG may or not play an important role in the aggregation of specific granule components. Further support of this notion came from studies on MCs, where SG KO bonemarrow derived CTMCs displayed exclusively non-stainable emptyappearing vesicles lacking electron dense cores as assessed by electron

microscopy (Henningsson *et al.*, 2006), while these structures are present in lower numbers in SG wild-type MCs. Interestingly, previous reports have suggested that MC specific proteases may be located in different locations within the same granule pointing to a well-regulated and oriented granule organization of MCs mediators inside the secretory organelles (Whitaker-Menezes *et al.*, 1995).

Serglycin and activation of granule components

Many cell types exert their biological functions through the release of a wide range of mediators stored in secretory vesicles. Although being established as a storage matrix for such components in secretory vesicles, SG PGs are also thought to play an important role in the presentation and activation of some biologically active substances. As previously mentioned, the ability for bacteria clearance is severely affected by the absence of SG, which may indicate that stored components such as elastase cannot act against such pathogens, possibly because they require SG for storage or activity (Niemann et al., 2007). A recent study in macrophages revealed that SG plays a role in the regulation of macrophage tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) where the secretion of this mediator in response to lipopolisaccharide stimulation is increased in SG KO macrophages (Zernichow et al., 2006). Furthermore, lysozyme is released and remains bound to PGs when exocytosed by macrophages (Lemansky & Hasilik, 2001). Another well-characterized example of the importance of SG PGs in modulating biological functions of granule components involves certain MC specific proteases. Previous studies have demonstrated that MC proteases are released in macromolecular complexes with PGs during MC degranulation (Schwartz et al., 1981). Interestingly, MC-derived heparin PGs were shown to promote chymase cleavage of certain substrates by simultaneously interacting with both chymase and its positively charged substrates, facilitating the contact between both components and reducing electrostatic repulsions (Pejler & Sadler, 1999). Moreover, the presence of heparin PGs after release from MCs is thought to have a protective role against some protease inhibitors, preventing their binding to the proteases (Lindstedt et al., 2001; Pejler & Berg, 1995). Matrix metalloproteases (MMPs) are important mediators in tissue remodeling and inflammation processes. It has been shown that certain MCs proteases are involved in the processing and activation of these mediators, namely that the activation of proMMP-9 and proMMP-2 was abrogated in mice lacking the chymase

mMCP-4 (Tchougounova *et al.*, 2005) which is known to be SG-dependent, and that MC-dependent processing of proMMP-2 was shown to be affected in SG-deficient mice (Lundequist *et al.*, 2006).

SG has also been suggested to participate in cytotoxic events mediated by CTLs. CTL-mediated cytotoxicity of infected or tumor cells involves the action of perforin and granzyme B and it has been shown that both are exocytosed in a macromolecular complex with SG PGs (Metkar *et al.*, 2002; Raja *et al.*, 2002). Importantly, granzyme B was shown to enter target cells independently of perforin (Froelich *et al.*, 1996) and upon release, granzyme B was still present as a complex with a PG (Metkar *et al.*, 2002). Additionally, a complex formed by granzyme B and free chondroitin 4-sulfate was shown to induce apoptosis in Jurkat cells (Galvin *et al.*, 1999). Moreover, a protease-resistant PG thought to be SG was shown to be exocytosed by NK cells when incubated with target cells, suggesting that SG may also be involved in effector mechanisms of NK-induced killing (MacDermott *et al.*, 1985; Schmidt *et al.*, 1985).

Furthermore, SG mRNA was shown to be present in endothelial cells and SG was seen to co-localize with tissue type plasminogen activator (Schick *et al.*, 2001). Given that in endothelial cells, SG is constitutively secreted (Schick *et al.*, 2001), it has been proposed that, similarly to MC MMPs, SG may play an important role in tissue remodeling and cell migration events involving this protease. Another cell migration molecule known to interact with SG is CD44, which is a cell surface adhesion molecule expressed in a wide range of cell types. Previous studies have demonstrated that SG interacts with CD44 present on the cell surface of cells, leading to degranulation events on CD44 positive CTL clones (Toyama-Sorimachi *et al.*, 1995). These findings further suggest that extracellular SG may be involved in cell-cell interaction and activation of lymphoid cells.

Turnover of exocytosed Serglycin

Little is still known about the fate of SG after exocytosis from MCs, macrophages and other cell types. It has been shown that when SG is injected into the blood stream of rats, liver sinusoidal cells are able to capture it and degrade it, contributing to the reduced levels that are found in plasma (Oynebraten *et al.*, 2000). 90% of the injected radiolabelled SG PGs were found in the liver, 5% in the blood and 5% in the kidney, spleen and urine, pointing for a major uptake by liver cells. This study also showed that it is mainly the hyaluronan receptor present on the surface of these cells

that is responsible for the elimination of SG from the bloodstream. Interestingly, a subsequent study showed that the core protein is degraded more rapidly than the GAG chains and that the final products of GAG degradation are lactate and sulfate, indicating that this process is anaerobic (Falkowska-Hansen *et al.*, 2006). So far, this is the most-well documented mechanism for elimination of SG. However, due to the interaction of partner cells in processes such as inflammation, it does not rule out other mechanisms through which SG is eliminated. In fact, MCs and macrophages are known to co-exist in inflammation sites and it has been suggested that macrophages may be involved in the uptake of SG PGs released in complex with MCs mediators (Lindahl *et al.*, 1979).

Present Investigations

Aim

The aim of the current studies was to investigate and elucidate the functional aspects of SG PGs as components of secretory granules, and to provide further insights into their interactions with other intra-granular mediators, using a genetic SG-deficient mouse strain.

Results and discussion

Paper I: Serglycin-Deficient Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes Display Defective Secretory Granule Maturation And Granzyme B Storage

CTLs play a pivotal role in the defense of the organism by attacking and eliminating degenerated harmful cells (e.g. tumor cells, virus infected cells). Fas-ligand and the granzyme B/perforin complex have long been recognized as the main components of the lymphocyte-mediated killing and have received particular attention in several studies. Nevertheless, the full understanding of the molecular mechanism behind their action still holds some questions that remain to be answered, namely the presence and role of "helper" molecules such as SG PGs. We thus investigated the importance of SG PGs in the granule organization as well as their interactions with other granular mediators in CTLs

Deletion of the SG gene did not result in an inability of granule formation in concavanalin A -stimulated CTLs from either spleen or blood. However, striking differences were seen sub-structurally where SG^{-/-} CTLs possessed exclusively spherical-shaped electron translucent granules filled with an

amorphous matrix. In contrast, $SG^{+/-}$ CTLs contained mostly heteromorphous cytotoxic granules with an electron-dense irregular core, but also spherical electron translucent granules filled with an amorphous matrix. Furthermore, $SG^{-/-}$ CTLs incorporated low amounts of radiolabeled sulfate both in secreted and intracellular GAGs in contrast to GAGs recovered from $SG^{+/-}$ cells, indicating that in fact SG PGs are the dominating PGs species both intra and extracellularly. However, as assessed by RT-PCR, CTLs were shown to express other PGs species, namely glypican-1, glypican-4 and syndecan-4, which may account for the remaining cell associated sulfated GAG chains.

Previous reports have shown that SG PGs interacted with granzymes and perforin (Masson *et al.*, 1990; Metkar *et al.*, 2002) and that granzyme B engages in tight interactions with SG PGs as well as with free CS chains (Galvin *et al.*, 1999; Raja *et al.*, 2002) forming a complex that withholds the capacity to induce apoptosis (Metkar *et al.*, 2002). We therefore addressed the possible dependence of CTLs granule mediators on SG PGs. As demonstrated by means of Western-blotting, granzyme A, perforin and Fas-L are not dependent on SG PGs for storage. However, granzyme B levels were shown to be dramatically reduced in SG^{-/-} CTLs indicating that SG is essential for its storage, which is consistent with other previous findings (Galvin *et al.*, 1999; Raja *et al.*, 2002). Although both are basic proteins, granzyme A and B exhibit different affinities towards SG PGs possibly due to a distinct protein folding and/or special arrangement.

In conclusion, this study shows for the first time that SG PGs are the dominating PG species synthesized by CTLs and are important for the storage of granzyme B, but not granzyme A or perform.

Paper II: Serglycin Proteoglycan is required for Secretory Granule Integrity in Mucosal Mast Cells

MCs are specialized cells involved in the host defense against a variety of pathogens such as bacteria (Echtenacher *et al.*, 1996; Malaviya *et al.*, 1996) and parasites (Ha *et al.*, 1983; Nawa *et al.*, 1985). Upon activation, MCs degranulate and release a broad range of mediators found enclosed in cytoplasmatic granules which include histamine, cytokines, proteases and proteoglycans. Depending on their tissue localization and micro-environmental stimuli, MCs may exhibit distinct phenotypical features and two major subtypes can be distinguished: CTMCs present in the skin and peritoneal cavity, and MMCs which are found in mucous membranes and

in the intestinal lamina propria (Galli, 1990; Metcalfe et al., 1997). The protease expression pattern of these MC subclasses is remarkably different where CTMCs are known to express MC CPA, mMCP-4, mMCP-5, mMCP-6 and mMCP-7 whereas MMCs contain mainly mMCP-1 and mMCP-2. Also, CTMCs and MMCs express different PGs species with heparin PGs being the most prominent PG species found in CTMCs (Yurt et al., 1977) whilst MMCs express predominantly CS PGs (Enerback et al., 1985). Insights into the role of heparin PGs in CTMCs came from studies where bone marrow-derived MCs (BMMCs) from NDST-2 (an enzyme involved in the epimerization and sulfation of heparin) knock-out mice displayed severe defects in the storage of MC secretory granule proteases (Forsberg et al., 1999; Humphries et al., 1999). Furthermore, SG^{-/-} BMMCs showed dramatic defects in granule morphology and also a compromised ability to store MC proteases, namely mMCP-4, -5, -6 and CPA demonstrating the importance of the highly sulfated heparin PGs as storage scaffolds in MC secretory granules (Abrink et al., 2004).

In this study we assessed the role of SG PGs in mucosal-like BMMCs. BMMCs from both SG^{+/+} and SG^{-/-} were differentiated into a MMC-like phenotype in the presence of IL-3, IL-9, SCF and TGF- β , specifically regarding the expression of MMC proteases mMCP-1 and -2. (Pemberton *et al.*, 2003).

Mature MCs are typically stained with cationic dyes due to the presence of negatively charged molecules in their secretory granules. SG^{+/+} in vitroderived MMC-like cells exhibited a strong metachromatic granular staining with May-Grunwald/Giemsa whereas SG^{-/-} cells displayed "empty"appearing vesicles, indicating that lack of SG leads to dramatic defects in the staining properties of MC with cationic dyes. Moreover, transmission electron micrographs revealed striking differences regarding granule organization between both phenotypes. Granules in SG^{+/+} cells showed a well defined sub-structural organization mainly divided into distinct compartments of low electron density (electron translucent) and electron dense cores. SG^{-/-} granules are completely filled with material of intermediate electron density displaying an amorphous-like arrangement lacking the subdivision into electro dense and translucent regions, clearly showing that SG is crucial in the intra-granular organization process.

Analysis of the cell-associated PGs upon biosynthetic labeling revealed an ~80% reduction of ${}^{35}SO_4^{2-}$ incorporation into PGs recovered from SG^{-/-} cells when compared to SG^{+/+} counterparts, which indicated that SG accounts for most of the secretory granule PGs. In addition, enzymatic digestion by

chondroitinase ABC resulted in the depolymerization of most of the GAGs from both SG^{+/+} and SG^{-/-} cells confirming that both SG- and non-SG species accommodate GAGs of CS type. As assessed by anion exchange chromatography, these GAGs in both phenotypes display a similar anionic charge density corresponding to a low degree of sulfation.

We next analyzed how the MC specific proteases were affected by the lack of SG. Although no differences were seen in terms of expression of MC proteases at the mRNA level, at protein level SG^{-/-} cells were devoid of mMCP-4, mMCP-6 and CPA while mMCP-5 levels were dramatically reduced, suggesting that these proteases are strongly dependent on SG PGs for storage. However, mMCP-1 and mMCP-7 levels were present in similar amounts in both SG^{+/+} and SG^{-/-} cells indicating that these are independent on SG for storage whereas mMCP-2 is only partially dependent.

Taken together, these results clearly establish that SG is the major cellassociated PG in *in vitro*-derived MMC-like cells and plays an important role in the granule maturation process where SG PGs act as a preferential storage matrix for selected mediators. However, the differential degree of dependence on SG PGs varies between individual granule compounds. A likely explanation may reside in the fact that MC proteases possess different cationic properties which will mediate their stronger or weaker binding to the negatively charged GAG chains.

Paper III: Age-Related Enlargement of Lymphoid Tissue and Altered Leukocyte Composition in Serglycin-Deficient Mice

In paper III, we noted that older SG-deficient mice commonly showed enlarged spleens and anomalies in other lymphoid organs, namely Peyer's patches and bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue (BALT).

In spleen, SG deficiency resulted in a reduction of CD4⁺ cells as compared with SG^{+/+} controls whereas the percentage of CD45RC expressing cells was higher in SG^{-/-} animals. Nevertheless, these results occurred independently of spleen enlargement which indicates that SG is possibly involved in the maturation process of immune cells in the spleen. In agreement with previous studies (Abrink *et al.*, 2004; Braga *et al.*, 2007), the lack of SG affects the metachromatic staining properties of MCs. However, and as judged by FACS analysis of peritoneal MCs, CD117 (c-kit) intensities were much lower in SG^{-/-} exudates indicating a role for SG in the

regulation of this surface marker. Moreover, the number of peritoneal macrophages was shown to be markedly decreased in older SG^{-/-} animals.

The results in this paper indicate that SG deficiency leads to multiple agerelated abnormalities in several lymphoid organs. This provides an indication that SG may be involved in the homeostasis of the leukocyte population, most likely by affecting growth and differentiation factors that are important for cell differentiation.

Paper IV: Reduction with Dithiothreitol Causes Serglycin-Specific Defects in Secretory Granule Integrity of Bone Marrow Derived Mast Cells.

Secretory granules are specialized cytoplasmatic organelles whose main function is to serve as storage pools for specific cell mediators such as hormones, proteases and signaling molecules that are generally released in response to stimulation. These structures are present in many cell types, including endocrine and neuroendocrine cells as well as in a variety of hematopoietic cell types such as macrophages, neutrophils, basophils, CTLs and MCs. Previous reports using SG^{-/-} mice provided important insights into the role of SG PGs in the granule maturation process in MCs (Abrink et al., 2004; Braga et al., 2007), where SG^{-/-} MCs displayed granules lacking a normal sub-structural organization accompanied by an absence of several MC-specific proteases. Also, a recent study showed that SG-dependent MC proteases were correctly targeted into the secretory vesicles in both SG^{+/+} and SG-^{/-} MCs but, in the latter, these proteases were either targeted for degradation or secreted (Henningsson et al., 2006). However, the underlying mechanisms behind the sorting of SG PGs into secretory vesicles are yet to be disclosed.

In the present study we addressed the possibility that a defined N-terminal motif involving a disulfide bridge may be involved in the correct sorting of SG PGs into secretory vesicles. It has been described that certain secretory proteins in neuroendocrine cells are known to possess an N-terminal bonded loop proven to be essential for their correct sorting into secretory granules (Benedum *et al.*, 1987; Chanat *et al.*, 1993; Tooze *et al.*, 2001). Interestingly, alignment of SG sequences from several species showed a striking conservation of an N-terminal motif comprising two cysteine residues likely to form a disulfide bond similar to the one found in other secretory proteins. In order to investigate whether the disruption of this disulfide bond would lead to defects in the secretory granule organization, both SG^{+/+} and SG^{-/-} BMMCs were cultured in the presence of

dithiothreitol (DTT). In fact, DTT caused to defects in the staining properties of SG^{+/+} cells with May-Grunwald/Giemsa, which was an indication that the intra-granular PGs were affected. Furthermore, ultra-structural investigations using transmission electron microscopy revealed that the sub-structural organization of these granules was strikingly similar to that found in SG^{-/-} BMMCs. Interestingly, however, SG^{-/-} BMMC granule morphology was shown not to be affected by the presence of the reducing agent, suggesting that DTT interacts specifically with SG PGs within the granules.

Biosynthetic radiolabelling experiments showed that in the presence of DTT, SG^{+/+} BMMCs incorporate low amounts of ${}^{35}SO_4^{2-}$ into the GAG chains when compared with non-treated cultures, and these levels are similar to the ones previously observed in PGs recovered from SG^{-/-} BMMCs. Also, DTT did not lead to differences in incorporation of ${}^{35}SO_4^{2-}$ into GAG chains recovered from DTT-treated SG^{-/-} BMMCs when compared with non-treated cultures. Together, these data clearly suggests that DTT interacts specifically with SG resulting in similar defects as seen in the SG^{-/-} BMMCs.

Since lack of SG leads to a compromised ability to store specific MCproteases (Abrink *et al.*, 2004; Braga *et al.*, 2007), we analyzed whether the effect of DTT would result in loss of function of SG as storage matrix of these proteases. However, immunoblot analysis of cell extracts showed that DTT did not affect the level of mMCP-6 protein. In contrast, incubation with 5mM DTT led to a considerable decrease in expression of the active form of CPA. Moreover, quantitative real-time PCR analysis revealed that the levels of both SG and CPA mRNA were not affected by DTT, indicating that these effects occur at the protein level.

The results in this study suggest that this N-terminal motif comprising a disulfide bonded-loop present in the SG protein may be involved in the correct sorting of SG PGs into secretory granules and that the reductive cleavage of this bond leads to an impairment of function of SG PGs in BMMC secretory vesicles.

Concluding remarks

PGs comprise a collection of biomolecules that are involved in many different biological processes such as cell adhesion, cell-cell and protein-cell interactions, and many others. Importantly, many immune cells of hematopoietic origin are known to possess cytoplasmatic vesicles where effector mediators are stored, which are released upon activation and stimulation. SG PGs have been shown to be the only known committed intracellular PG in hematopoietic cells. Although considerable progress has been made in the SG PG field of research especially in the last five years due to the generation of a SG-deficient mouse strain, many aspects regarding SG biology and function still remain to be answered. More knowledge of SG interactions with other biological ligands, their dependence on SG for storage and activation would be of fundamental importance to understand more about the biology of many immune-related reactions and other physiological mechanisms.

The work presented in this thesis focused on the role of SG PGs in secretory granule organization, their interaction with other granule components as well as their importance in other immune-related events. Moreover, the importance of the highly conserved amino-acid sequence present in the N-terminus of the SG protein has been addressed. We have demonstrated that SG PGs play a very important role in granule maturation and organization in CTLs and MMCs and further showed that specific granule components in these cells are SG-dependent for their correct storage. Our finding that the lack of SG may lead to defects in immunerelated organs in older animals, and that SG may be involved in the maturation and regulation of immune cells in lymphoid organs suggests that SG may not be only confined to intracellular compartments, but also play important roles extracellularly.

Even though the studies presented in this thesis have provided more insights about the importance of SG PGs, many questions still remain unanswered. It has yet to be determined how the expression of the SG gene is regulated and what are the trans-activating factors involved in cells where the expression of SG is undesired. From the studies presented here it is clear that SG PGs play a very important role in secretory granule maturation and organization but it remains to be elucidated why and by which mechanisms SG PGs are mainly secreted and released from other cell types such as macrophages. It seems likely that SG expression could be modulated through alternative splicing processes according to the stage of maturation and differentiation of the cell, but this aspect of SG biology remains to be addressed. Furthermore, it would be of fundamental interest to gain further insights into the role of the GAG chains and the determinants that drive the synthesis of either CS or heparin/HS into the SG core protein. Due to its role and interactions with many different biological ligands, it is therefore of interest to study in more detail the ligand interactions before and upon release and their biological effects as well as to learn more about the structural requirements involved in such interactions. Moreover studies should be conducted to address whether or not abnormal expression of SG or its absence leads to pathological conditions, especially in humans and if SG could be used as a biological marker of such conditions.

References

- Abrink, M., Grujic, M. & Pejler, G. (2004). Serglycin is essential for maturation of mast cell secretory granule. J Biol Chem 279(39), 40897-905.
- Aikawa, J., Grobe, K., Tsujimoto, M. & Esko, J.D. (2001). Multiple isozymes of heparan sulfate/heparin GlcNAc N-deacetylase/GlcN N-sulfotransferase. Structure and activity of the fourth member, NDST4. J Biol Chem 276(8), 5876-82.
- Aruffo, A., Stamenkovic, I., Melnick, M., Underhill, C.B. & Seed, B. (1990). CD44 is the principal cell surface receptor for hyaluronate. *Cell* 61(7), 1303-13.
- Ashikari, S., Habuchi, H. & Kimata, K. (1995). Characterization of heparan sulfate oligosaccharides that bind to hepatocyte growth factor. J Biol Chem 270(49), 29586-93.
- Avraham, S., Austen, K.F., Nicodemus, C.F., Gartner, M.C. & Stevens, R.L. (1989). Cloning and characterization of the mouse gene that encodes the peptide core of secretory granule proteoglycans and expression of this gene in transfected rat-1 fibroblasts. J Biol Chem 264(28), 16719-26.
- Avraham, S., Avraham, H., Austen, K.F. & Stevens, R.L. (1992). Negative and positive cis-acting elements in the promoter of the mouse gene that encodes the serine/glycine-rich peptide core of secretory granule proteoglycans. J Biol Chem 267(1), 610-7.
- Bachert, C. (2002). The role of histamine in allergic disease: re-appraisal of its inflammatory potential. *Allergy* 57(4), 287-96.
- Bashford, C.L., Menestrina, G., Henkart, P.A. & Pasternak, C.A. (1988). Cell damage by cytolysin. Spontaneous recovery and reversible inhibition by divalent cations. *J Immunol* 141(11), 3965-74.
- Beller, T.C., Maekawa, A., Friend, D.S., Austen, K.F. & Kanaoka, Y. (2004). Targeted gene disruption reveals the role of the cysteinyl leukotriene 2 receptor in increased vascular permeability and in bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis in mice. J Biol Chem 279(44), 46129-34.
- Benedum, U.M., Lamouroux, A., Konecki, D.S., Rosa, P., Hille, A., Baeuerle, P.A., Frank, R., Lottspeich, F., Mallet, J. & Huttner, W.B. (1987). The
- 43

primary structure of human secretogranin I (chromogranin B): comparison with chromogranin A reveals homologous terminal domains and a large intervening variable region. *EMBO J* 6(5), 1203-11.

- Bernfield, M., Gotte, M., Park, P.W., Reizes, O., Fitzgerald, M.L., Lincecum, J. & Zako, M. (1999). Functions of cell surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans. *Annu Rev Biochem* 68, 729-77.
- Bernfield, M., Kokenyesi, R., Kato, M., Hinkes, M.T., Spring, J., Gallo, R.L. & Lose, E.J. (1992). Biology of the syndecans: a family of transmembrane heparan sulfate proteoglycans. *Annu Rev Cell Biol* 8, 365–93.
- Bork, P. & Patthy, L. (1995). The SEA module: a new extracellular domain associated with O-glycosylation. *Protein Sci* 4(7), 1421-5.
- Bourdon, M.A., Oldberg, A., Pierschbacher, M. & Ruoslahti, E. (1985). Molecular cloning and sequence analysis of a chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan cDNA. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 82(5), 1321-5.
- Bowe, M.A. & Fallon, J.R. (1995). The role of agrin in synapse formation. *Annu Rev Neurosci* 18, 443-62.
- Braga, T., Grujic, M., Lukinius, A., Hellman, L., Abrink, M. & Pejler, G. (2007). Serglycin proteoglycan is required for secretory granule integrity in mucosal mast cells. *Biochem J* 403(1), 49–57.
- Brunner, G., Metz, C.N., Nguyen, H., Gabrilove, J., Patel, S.R., Davitz, M.A., Rifkin, D.B. & Wilson, E.L. (1994). An endogenous glycosylphosphatidylinositol-specific phospholipase D releases basic fibroblast growth factor-heparan sulfate proteoglycan complexes from human bone marrow cultures. *Blood* 83(8), 2115-25.
- Carey, D.J. (1997). Syndecans: multifunctional cell-surface co-receptors. *Biochem J* 327 (Pt 1), 1-16.
- Carey, D.J., Bendt, K.M. & Stahl, R.C. (1996). The cytoplasmic domain of syndecan-1 is required for cytoskeleton association but not detergent insolubility. Identification of essential cytoplasmic domain residues. J Biol Chem 271(25), 15253-60.
- Carey, D.J., Stahl, R.C., Asundi, V.K. & Tucker, B. (1993). Processing and subcellular distribution of the Schwann cell lipid-anchored heparan sulfate proteoglycan and identification as glypican. *Exp Cell Res* 208(1), 10–8.
- Castelli, C., Rivoltini, L., Andreola, G., Carrabba, M., Renkvist, N. & Parmiani, G. (2000). T-cell recognition of melanoma-associated antigens. *J Cell Physiol* 182(3), 323-31.
- Caughey, G.H., Blount, J.L., Koerber, K.L., Kitamura, M. & Fang, K.C. (1997). Cloning and expression of the dog mast cell alpha-chymase gene. *J Immunol* 159(9), 4367-75.
- Caughey, G.H., Leidig, F., Viro, N.F. & Nadel, J.A. (1988). Substance P and vasoactive intestinal peptide degradation by mast cell tryptase and chymase. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 244(1), 133-7.
- Chanat, E., Weiss, U., Huttner, W.B. & Tooze, S.A. (1993). Reduction of the disulfide bond of chromogranin B (secretogranin I) in the trans-Golgi
- 44

network causes its missorting to the constitutive secretory pathways. *EMBO J* 12(5), 2159-68.

- Chandrasekharan, U.M., Sanker, S., Glynias, M.J., Karnik, S.S. & Husain, A. (1996). Angiotensin II-forming activity in a reconstructed ancestral chymase. *Science* 271(5248), 502–5.
- Chen, R.L. & Lander, A.D. (2001). Mechanisms underlying preferential assembly of heparan sulfate on glypican-1. *J Biol Chem* 276(10), 7507-17.
- Choi, H.U. & Meyer, K. (1975). The structure of keratan sulphates from various sources. *Biochem J* 151(3), 543-53.
- Dahlen, S.E., Hedqvist, P., Hammarstrom, S. & Samuelsson, B. (1980). Leukotrienes are potent constrictors of human bronchi. *Nature* 288(5790), 484-6.
- David, G. (1993). Integral membrane heparan sulfate proteoglycans. *FASEB J* 7(11), 1023-30.
- David, G., Lories, V., Decock, B., Marynen, P., Cassiman, J.J. & Van den Berghe, H. (1990). Molecular cloning of a phosphatidylinositol-anchored membrane heparan sulfate proteoglycan from human lung fibroblasts. *J Cell Biol* 111(6 Pt 2), 3165-76.
- Doege, K., Sasaki, M., Horigan, E., Hassell, J.R. & Yamada, Y. (1987). Complete primary structure of the rat cartilage proteoglycan core protein deduced from cDNA clones. *J Biol Chem* 262(36), 17757-67.
- Echtenacher, B., Mannel, D.N. & Hultner, L. (1996). Critical protective role of mast cells in a model of acute septic peritonitis. *Nature* 381(6577), 75-7.
- Elenius, K., Salmivirta, M., Inki, P., Mali, M. & Jalkanen, M. (1990). Binding of human syndecan to extracellular matrix proteins. J Biol Chem 265(29), 17837-43.
- Enerback, L., Kolset, S.O., Kusche, M., Hjerpe, A. & Lindahl, U. (1985). Glycosaminoglycans in rat mucosal mast cells. *Biochem J* 227(2), 661-8.
- Eriksson, I., Sandback, D., Ek, B., Lindahl, U. & Kjellen, L. (1994). cDNA cloning and sequencing of mouse mastocytoma glucosaminyl N-deacetylase/Nsulfotransferase, an enzyme involved in the biosynthesis of heparin. J Biol Chem 269(14), 10438-43.
- Esko, J.D. & Lindahl, U. (2001). Molecular diversity of heparan sulfate. J Clin Invest 108(2), 169-73.
- Esko, J.D. & Zhang, L. (1996). Influence of core protein sequence on glycosaminoglycan assembly. *Curr Opin Struct Biol* 6(5), 663-70.
- Fajardo, I. & Pejler, G. (2003). Human mast cell beta-tryptase is a gelatinase. J Immunol 171(3), 1493-9.
- Falkowska-Hansen, B., Oynebraten, I., Uhlin-Hansen, L. & Smedsrod, B. (2006). Endocytosis and degradation of serglycin in liver sinusoidal endothelial cells. *Mol Cell Biochem* 287(1-2), 43-52.
- Fan, G., Xiao, L., Cheng, L., Wang, X., Sun, B. & Hu, G. (2000). Targeted disruption of NDST-1 gene leads to pulmonary hypoplasia and neonatal respiratory distress in mice. *FEBS Lett* 467(1), 7-11.

- Forsberg, E., Pejler, G., Ringvall, M., Lunderius, C., Tomasini-Johansson, B., Kusche-Gullberg, M., Eriksson, I., Ledin, J., Hellman, L. & Kjellen, L. (1999). Abnormal mast cells in mice deficient in a heparin-synthesizing enzyme. *Nature* 400(6746), 773-6.
- Froelich, C.J., Orth, K., Turbov, J., Seth, P., Gottlieb, R., Babior, B., Shah, G.M., Bleackley, R.C., Dixit, V.M. & Hanna, W. (1996). New paradigm for lymphocyte granule-mediated cytotoxicity. Target cells bind and internalize granzyme B, but an endosomolytic agent is necessary for cytosolic delivery and subsequent apoptosis. J Biol Chem 271(46), 29073-9.
- Galli, S.J. (1990). New insights into "the riddle of the mast cells": microenvironmental regulation of mast cell development and phenotypic heterogeneity. *Lab Invest* 62(1), 5-33.
- Galvin, J.P., Spaeny-Dekking, L.H., Wang, B., Seth, P., Hack, C.E. & Froelich, C.J. (1999). Apoptosis induced by granzyme B-glycosaminoglycan complexes: implications for granule-mediated apoptosis in vivo. *J Immunol* 162(9), 5345-50.
- Ghosh, A.K., Hirasawa, N., Ohtsu, H., Watanabe, T. & Ohuchi, K. (2002). Defective angiogenesis in the inflammatory granulation tissue in histidine decarboxylase-deficient mice but not in mast cell-deficient mice. *J Exp Med* 195(8), 973-82.
- Gitay-Goren, H., Soker, S., Vlodavsky, I. & Neufeld, G. (1992). The binding of vascular endothelial growth factor to its receptors is dependent on cell surface-associated heparin-like molecules. *J Biol Chem* 267(9), 6093-8.
- Gohring, W., Sasaki, T., Heldin, C.H. & Timpl, R. (1998). Mapping of the binding of platelet-derived growth factor to distinct domains of the basement membrane proteins BM-40 and perlecan and distinction from the BM-40 collagen-binding epitope. *Eur J Biochem* 255(1), 60-6.
- Goldstein, S.M., Kaempfer, C.E., Kealey, J.T. & Wintroub, B.U. (1989). Human mast cell carboxypeptidase. Purification and characterization. *J Clin Invest* 83(5), 1630-6.
- Groffen, A.J., Ruegg, M.A., Dijkman, H., van de Velden, T.J., Buskens, C.A., van den Born, J., Assmann, K.J., Monnens, L.A., Veerkamp, J.H. & van den Heuvel, L.P. (1998). Agrin is a major heparan sulfate proteoglycan in the human glomerular basement membrane. J Histochem Cytochem 46(1), 19– 27.
- Grootjans, J.J., Zimmermann, P., Reekmans, G., Smets, A., Degeest, G., Durr, J. & David, G. (1997). Syntenin, a PDZ protein that binds syndecan cytoplasmic domains. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 94(25), 13683-8.
- Grossman, W.J., Revell, P.A., Lu, Z.H., Johnson, H., Bredemeyer, A.J. & Ley, T.J. (2003). The orphan granzymes of humans and mice. *Curr Opin Immunol* 15(5), 544-52.
- Grumet, M., Flaccus, A. & Margolis, R.U. (1993). Functional characterization of chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans of brain: interactions with neurons and neural cell adhesion molecules. *J Cell Biol* 120(3), 815-24.
- 46

- Ha, T.Y., Reed, N.D. & Crowle, P.K. (1983). Delayed expulsion of adult Trichinella spiralis by mast cell-deficient W/Wv mice. *Infect Immun* 41(1), 445-7.
- Hagihara, K., Miura, R., Kosaki, R., Berglund, E., Ranscht, B. & Yamaguchi, Y. (1999). Immunohistochemical evidence for the brevican-tenascin-R interaction: colocalization in perineuronal nets suggests a physiological role for the interaction in the adult rat brain. J Comp Neurol 410(2), 256-64.
- Hallgren, J., Karlson, U., Poorafshar, M., Hellman, L. & Pejler, G. (2000). Mechanism for activation of mouse mast cell tryptase: dependence on heparin and acidic pH for formation of active tetramers of mouse mast cell protease 6. *Biochemistry* 39(42), 13068-77.
- Handel, T.M., Johnson, Z., Crown, S.E., Lau, E.K. & Proudfoot, A.E. (2005). Regulation of protein function by glycosaminoglycans--as exemplified by chemokines. *Annu Rev Biochem* 74, 385-410.
- Hashimoto, Y., Orellana, A., Gil, G. & Hirschberg, C.B. (1992). Molecular cloning and expression of rat liver N-heparan sulfate sulfotransferase. *J Biol Chem* 267(22), 15744-50.
- Hassell, J., Yamada, Y. & Arikawa-Hirasawa, E. (2002). Role of perlecan in skeletal development and diseases. *Glycoconj J* 19(4-5), 263-7.
- Haynes, B.F., Telen, M.J., Hale, L.P. & Denning, S.M. (1989). CD44--a molecule involved in leukocyte adherence and T-cell activation. *Immunol Today* 10(12), 423-8.
- He, S. & Walls, A.F. (1998). Human mast cell chymase induces the accumulation of neutrophils, eosinophils and other inflammatory cells in vivo. *Br J Pharmacol* 125(7), 1491-500.
- Henningsson, F., Hergeth, S., Cortelius, R., Abrink, M. & Pejler, G. (2006). A role for serglycin proteoglycan in granular retention and processing of mast cell secretory granule components. *FEBS J* 273(21), 4901–12.
- Henningsson, F., Ledin, J., Lunderius, C., Wilen, M., Hellman, L. & Pejler, G. (2002). Altered storage of proteases in mast cells from mice lacking heparin: a possible role for heparin in carboxypeptidase A processing. *Biol Chem* 383(5), 793-801.
- Herndon, M.E. & Lander, A.D. (1990). A diverse set of developmentally regulated proteoglycans is expressed in the rat central nervous system. *Neuron* 4(6), 949-61.

Hocking, A.M., Strugnell, R.A., Ramamurthy, P. & McQuillan, D.J. (1996). Eukaryotic expression of recombinant biglycan. Post-translational processing and the importance of secondary structure for biological activity. J Biol Chem 271(32), 19571-7.

- Humphries, D.E., Wong, G.W., Friend, D.S., Gurish, M.F., Qiu, W.T., Huang, C., Sharpe, A.H. & Stevens, R.L. (1999). Heparin is essential for the storage of specific granule proteases in mast cells. *Nature* 400(6746), 769-72.
- Iozzo, R.V. (2005). Basement membrane proteoglycans: from cellar to ceiling. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 6(8), 646-56.

- Iozzo, R.V., Cohen, I.R., Grassel, S. & Murdoch, A.D. (1994). The biology of perlecan: the multifaceted heparan sulphate proteoglycan of basement membranes and pericellular matrices. *Biochem J* 302 (Pt 3), 625-39.
- Isemura, M., Sato, N., Yamaguchi, Y., Aikawa, J., Munakata, H., Hayashi, N., Yosizawa, Z., Nakamura, T., Kubota, A., Arakawa, M. & et al. (1987). Isolation and characterization of fibronectin-binding proteoglycan carrying both heparan sulfate and dermatan sulfate chains from human placenta. J Biol Chem 262(18), 8926-33.
- Ishizuka, T., Okayama, Y., Kobayashi, H. & Mori, M. (1999a). Interleukin-3 production by mast cells from human lung. *Inflammation* 23(1), 25-35.
- Ishizuka, T., Okayama, Y., Kobayashi, H. & Mori, M. (1999b). Interleukin-10 is localized to and released by human lung mast cells. *Clin Exp Allergy* 29(10), 1424-32.
- Jalkanen, S. & Jalkanen, M. (1992). Lymphocyte CD44 binds the COOH-terminal heparin-binding domain of fibronectin. *J Cell Biol* 116(3), 817-25.
- Johnson, A.R., Hugli, T.E. & Muller-Eberhard, H.J. (1975). Release of histamine from rat mast cells by the complement peptides C3a and C5a. *Immunology* 28(6), 1067.
- Johnston, S.L., Freezer, N.J., Ritter, W., O'Toole, S. & Howarth, P.H. (1995). Prostaglandin D2-induced bronchoconstriction is mediated only in part by the thromboxane prostanoid receptor. *Eur Respir J* 8(3), 411-5.
- Kainulainen, V., Wang, H., Schick, C. & Bernfield, M. (1998). Syndecans, heparan sulfate proteoglycans, maintain the proteolytic balance of acute wound fluids. J Biol Chem 273(19), 11563-9.
- Karthikeyan, L., Maurel, P., Rauch, U., Margolis, R.K. & Margolis, R.U. (1992). Cloning of a major heparan sulfate proteoglycan from brain and identification as the rat form of glypican. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 188(1), 395-401.
- Kiefer, M.C., Stephans, J.C., Crawford, K., Okino, K. & Barr, P.J. (1990). Ligandaffinity cloning and structure of a cell surface heparan sulfate proteoglycan that binds basic fibroblast growth factor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 87(18), 6985-9.
- Kim, C.W., Goldberger, O.A., Gallo, R.L. & Bernfield, M. (1994). Members of the syndecan family of heparan sulfate proteoglycans are expressed in distinct cell-, tissue-, and development-specific patterns. *Mol Biol Cell* 5(7), 797-805.
- Kinnunen, T., Raulo, E., Nolo, R., Maccarana, M., Lindahl, U. & Rauvala, H. (1996). Neurite outgrowth in brain neurons induced by heparin-binding growth-associated molecule (HB-GAM) depends on the specific interaction of HB-GAM with heparan sulfate at the cell surface. J Biol Chem 271(4), 2243-8.
- Kinsella, M.G., Bressler, S.L. & Wight, T.N. (2004). The regulated synthesis of versican, decorin, and biglycan: extracellular matrix proteoglycans that influence cellular phenotype. *Crit Rev Eukaryot Gene Expr* 14(3), 203-34.
- 48

- Kitamura, Y., Yokoyama, M., Matsuda, H., Ohno, T. & Mori, K.J. (1981). Spleen colony-forming cell as common precursor for tissue mast cells and granulocytes. *Nature* 291(5811), 159-60.
- Kjellen, L. & Lindahl, U. (1991). Proteoglycans: structures and interactions. Annu Rev Biochem 60, 443-75.
- Kobayashi, H., Ishizuka, T. & Okayama, Y. (2000). Human mast cells and basophils as sources of cytokines. *Clin Exp Allergy* 30(9), 1205-12.
- Koda, J.E., Rapraeger, A. & Bernfield, M. (1985). Heparan sulfate proteoglycans from mouse mammary epithelial cells. Cell surface proteoglycan as a receptor for interstitial collagens. J Biol Chem 260(13), 8157-62.
- Kokkonen, J.O., Vartiainen, M. & Kovanen, P.T. (1986). Low density lipoprotein degradation by secretory granules of rat mast cells. Sequential degradation of apolipoprotein B by granule chymase and carboxypeptidase A. J Biol Chem 261(34), 16067-72.
- Kolset, S.O. & Gallagher, J.T. (1990). Proteoglycans in haemopoietic cells. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1032(2-3), 191-211.
- Kolset, S.O. & Tveit, H. (2008). Serglycin--structure and biology. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 65(7-8), 1073-85.
- Kulka, M., Alexopoulou, L., Flavell, R.A. & Metcalfe, D.D. (2004). Activation of mast cells by double-stranded RNA: evidence for activation through Tolllike receptor 3. J Allergy Clin Immunol 114(1), 174–82.
- Kusche-Gullberg, M. & Kjellen, L. (2003). Sulfotransferases in glycosaminoglycan biosynthesis. *Curr Opin Struct Biol* 13(5), 605-11.
- Lander, A.D. & Selleck, S.B. (2000). The elusive functions of proteoglycans: in vivo veritas. *J Cell Biol* 148(2), 227-32.
- Lee, M., Sommerhoff, C.P., von Eckardstein, A., Zettl, F., Fritz, H. & Kovanen, P.T. (2002). Mast cell tryptase degrades HDL and blocks its function as an acceptor of cellular cholesterol. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 22(12), 2086-91.
- Lemansky, P. & Hasilik, A. (2001). Chondroitin sulfate is involved in lysosomal transport of lysozyme in U937 cells. *J Cell Sci* 114(Pt 2), 345-52.
- Lesley, J., Hyman, R. & Kincade, P.W. (1993). CD44 and its interaction with extracellular matrix. *Adv Immunol* 54, 271-335.
- Levi-Schaffer, F., Austen, K.F., Gravallese, P.M. & Stevens, R.L. (1986). Coculture of interleukin 3-dependent mouse mast cells with fibroblasts results in a phenotypic change of the mast cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 83(17), 6485-8.
- Levine, J.M. & Nishiyama, A. (1996). The NG2 chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan: a multifunctional proteoglycan associated with immature cells. *Perspect Dev Neurobiol* 3(4), 245-59.
- Li, M., Choo, B., Wong, Z.M., Filmus, J. & Buick, R.N. (1997). Expression of OCI-5/glypican 3 during intestinal morphogenesis: regulation by cell shape in intestinal epithelial cells. *Exp Cell Res* 235(1), 3-12.

- Liao, Y., Yi, T., Hoit, B.D., Walsh, R.A., Karnik, S.S. & Husain, A. (1997). Selective reporter expression in mast cells using a chymase promoter. J Biol Chem 272(5), 2969–76.
- Lin, Y., Zhang, S., Rehn, M., Itaranta, P., Tuukkanen, J., Heljasvaara, R., Peltoketo, H., Pihlajaniemi, T. & Vainio, S. (2001). Induced repatterning of type XVIII collagen expression in ureter bud from kidney to lung type: association with sonic hedgehog and ectopic surfactant protein C. *Development* 128(9), 1573–85.
- Lindahl, U., Kusche-Gullberg, M. & Kjellen, L. (1998). Regulated diversity of heparan sulfate. *J Biol Chem* 273(39), 24979-82.
- Lindahl, U., Pertoft, H. & Seljelid, R. (1979). Uptake and degradation of mast-cell granules by mouse peritoneal macrophages. *Biochem J* 182(1), 189-93.
- Lindstedt, L., Lee, M. & Kovanen, P.T. (2001). Chymase bound to heparin is resistant to its natural inhibitors and capable of proteolyzing high density lipoproteins in aortic intimal fluid. *Atherosclerosis* 155(1), 87-97.
- Litwack, E.D., Ivins, J.K., Kumbasar, A., Paine-Saunders, S., Stipp, C.S. & Lander, A.D. (1998). Expression of the heparan sulfate proteoglycan glypican-1 in the developing rodent. *Dev Dyn* 211(1), 72-87.
- Lohi, J., Harvima, I. & Keski-Oja, J. (1992). Pericellular substrates of human mast cell tryptase: 72,000 dalton gelatinase and fibronectin. J Cell Biochem 50(4), 337-49.
- Lohmander, L.S., Shinomura, T., Hascall, V.C. & Kimura, J.H. (1989). Xylosyl transfer to the core protein precursor of the rat chondrosarcoma proteoglycan. *J Biol Chem* 264(31), 18775-80.
- Lortat-Jacob, H., Kleinman, H.K. & Grimaud, J.A. (1991). High-affinity binding of interferon-gamma to a basement membrane complex (matrigel). *J Clin Invest* 87(3), 878-83.
- Lundequist, A., Abrink, M. & Pejler, G. (2006). Mast cell-dependent activation of pro matrix metalloprotease 2: A role for serglycin proteoglycan-dependent mast cell proteases. *Biol Chem* 387(10-11), 1513-9.
- Lundequist, A., Tchougounova, E., Abrink, M. & Pejler, G. (2004). Cooperation between mast cell carboxypeptidase A and the chymase mouse mast cell protease 4 in the formation and degradation of angiotensin II. *J Biol Chem* 279(31), 32339-44.
- Ma, J., Nastuk, M.A., McKechnie, B.A. & Fallon, J.R. (1993). The agrin receptor. Localization in the postsynaptic membrane, interaction with agrin, and relationship to the acetylcholine receptor. J Biol Chem 268(33), 25108–17.
- MacDermott, R.P., Schmidt, R.E., Caulfield, J.P., Hein, A., Bartley, G.T., Ritz, J., Schlossman, S.F., Austen, K.F. & Stevens, R.L. (1985). Proteoglycans in cell-mediated cytotoxicity. Identification, localization, and exocytosis of a chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan from human cloned natural killer cells during target cell lysis. J Exp Med 162(6), 1771-87.
- Malaviya, R., Ikeda, T., Ross, E. & Abraham, S.N. (1996). Mast cell modulation of neutrophil influx and bacterial clearance at sites of infection through TNFalpha. *Nature* 381(6577), 77-80.
- 50

- Mali, M., Jaakkola, P., Arvilommi, A.M. & Jalkanen, M. (1990). Sequence of human syndecan indicates a novel gene family of integral membrane proteoglycans. *J Biol Chem* 265(12), 6884–9.
- Malmstrom, A. (1984). Biosynthesis of dermatan sulfate. II. Substrate specificity of the C-5 uronosyl epimerase. J Biol Chem 259(1), 161-5.
- Malmstrom, A. & Fransson, L.A. (1975). Biosynthesis of dermatan sulfate. I. Formation of L-iduronic acid residues. J Biol Chem 250(9), 3419-25.
- Marshall, J.S., King, C.A. & McCurdy, J.D. (2003). Mast cell cytokine and chemokine responses to bacterial and viral infection. *Curr Pharm Des* 9(1), 11-24.
- Martin, D.I., Zon, L.I., Mutter, G. & Orkin, S.H. (1990). Expression of an erythroid transcription factor in megakaryocytic and mast cell lineages. *Nature* 344(6265), 444-7.
- Masson, D., Peters, P.J., Geuze, H.J., Borst, J. & Tschopp, J. (1990). Interaction of chondroitin sulfate with perform and granzymes of cytolytic T-cells is dependent on pH. *Biochemistry* 29(51), 11229-35.
- Matsuura, R., Isaka, N., Imanaka-Yoshida, K., Yoshida, T., Sakakura, T. & Nakano, T. (1996). Deposition of PG-M/versican is a major cause of human coronary restenosis after percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty. *J Pathol* 180(3), 311-6.
- Medeiros, A.I., Silva, C.L., Malheiro, A., Maffei, C.M. & Faccioli, L.H. (1999). Leukotrienes are involved in leukocyte recruitment induced by live Histoplasma capsulatum or by the beta-glucan present in their cell wall. *Br J Pharmacol* 128(7), 1529-37.
- Mellor, E.A., Austen, K.F. & Boyce, J.A. (2002). Cysteinyl leukotrienes and uridine diphosphate induce cytokine generation by human mast cells through an interleukin 4-regulated pathway that is inhibited by leukotriene receptor antagonists. J Exp Med 195(5), 583-92.
- Mellor, E.A., Frank, N., Soler, D., Hodge, M.R., Lora, J.M., Austen, K.F. & Boyce, J.A. (2003). Expression of the type 2 receptor for cysteinyl leukotrienes (CysLT2R) by human mast cells: Functional distinction from CysLT1R. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 100(20), 11589-93.
- Metcalfe, D.D., Baram, D. & Mekori, Y.A. (1997). Mast cells. *Physiol Rev* 77(4), 1033-79.
- Metkar, S.S., Wang, B., Aguilar-Santelises, M., Raja, S.M., Uhlin-Hansen, L., Podack, E., Trapani, J.A. & Froelich, C.J. (2002). Cytotoxic cell granulemediated apoptosis: perforin delivers granzyme B-serglycin complexes into target cells without plasma membrane pore formation. *Immunity* 16(3), 417-28.
- Metsarinne, K.P., Vehmaan-Kreula, P., Kovanen, P.T., Saijonmaa, O., Baumann, M., Wang, Y., Nyman, T., Fyhrquist, F.Y. & Eklund, K.K. (2002). Activated mast cells increase the level of endothelin-1 mRNA in cocultured endothelial cells and degrade the secreted Peptide. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 22(2), 268-73.

- Milev, P., Chiba, A., Haring, M., Rauvala, H., Schachner, M., Ranscht, B., Margolis, R.K. & Margolis, R.U. (1998). High affinity binding and overlapping localization of neurocan and phosphacan/protein-tyrosine phosphatase-zeta/beta with tenascin-R, amphoterin, and the heparinbinding growth-associated molecule. J Biol Chem 273(12), 6998-7005.
- Miller, H.R. & Pemberton, A.D. (2002). Tissue-specific expression of mast cell granule serine proteinases and their role in inflammation in the lung and gut. *Immunology* 105(4), 375-90.
- Morgelin, M., Paulsson, M., Malmstrom, A. & Heinegard, D. (1989). Shared and distinct structural features of interstitial proteoglycans from different bovine tissues revealed by electron microscopy. *J Biol Chem* 264(20), 12080-90.
- Moss, P.A., Rosenberg, W.M. & Bell, J.I. (1992). The human T cell receptor in health and disease. *Annu Rev Immunol* 10, 71-96.
- Nawa, Y., Kiyota, M., Korenaga, M. & Kotani, M. (1985). Defective protective capacity of W/Wv mice against Strongyloides ratti infection and its reconstitution with bone marrow cells. *Parasite Immunol* 7(4), 429-38.
- Nicodemus, C.F., Avraham, S., Austen, K.F., Purdy, S., Jablonski, J. & Stevens, R.L. (1990). Characterization of the human gene that encodes the peptide core of secretory granule proteoglycans in promyelocytic leukemia HL-60 cells and analysis of the translated product. J Biol Chem 265(10), 5889-96.
- Niemann, C.U., Abrink, M., Pejler, G., Fischer, R.L., Christensen, E.I., Knight, S.D. & Borregaard, N. (2007). Neutrophil elastase depends on serglycin proteoglycan for localization in granules. *Blood* 109(10), 4478-86.
- Niemann, C.U., Cowland, J.B., Klausen, P., Askaa, J., Calafat, J. & Borregaard, N. (2004). Localization of serglycin in human neutrophil granulocytes and their precursors. *J Leukoc Biol* 76(2), 406-15.
- Nitkin, R.M., Smith, M.A., Magill, C., Fallon, J.R., Yao, Y.M., Wallace, B.G. & McMahan, U.J. (1987). Identification of agrin, a synaptic organizing protein from Torpedo electric organ. J Cell Biol 105(6 Pt 1), 2471-8.
- O'Reilly, M.S., Boehm, T., Shing, Y., Fukai, N., Vasios, G., Lane, W.S., Flynn, E., Birkhead, J.R., Olsen, B.R. & Folkman, J. (1997). Endostatin: an endogenous inhibitor of angiogenesis and tumor growth. *Cell* 88(2), 277-85.
- Oh, S.P., Warman, M.L., Seldin, M.F., Cheng, S.D., Knoll, J.H., Timmons, S. & Olsen, B.R. (1994). Cloning of cDNA and genomic DNA encoding human type XVIII collagen and localization of the alpha 1(XVIII) collagen gene to mouse chromosome 10 and human chromosome 21. *Genomics* 19(3), 494-9.
- Okayama, Y., Bradding, P., Tunon-de-Lara, J.M., Holgate, S.T. & Church, M.K. (1995). Cytokine production by human mast cells. *Chem Immunol* 61, 114-34.
- Oldberg, A., Hayman, E.G. & Ruoslahti, E. (1981). Isolation of a chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan from a rat yolk sac tumor and immunochemical demonstration of its cell surface localization. *J Biol Chem* 256(21), 10847-52.
- 52

- Oynebraten, I., Hansen, B., Smedsrod, B. & Uhlin-Hansen, L. (2000). Serglycin secreted by leukocytes is efficiently eliminated from the circulation by sinusoidal scavenger endothelial cells in the liver. *J Leukoc Biol* 67(2), 183-8.
- Pejler, G. & Berg, L. (1995). Regulation of rat mast cell protease 1 activity. Protease inhibition is prevented by heparin proteoglycan. *Eur J Biochem* 233(1), 192-9.
- Pejler, G. & Sadler, J.E. (1999). Mechanism by which heparin proteoglycan modulates mast cell chymase activity. *Biochemistry* 38(37), 12187-95.
- Pemberton, A.D., Brown, J.K., Wright, S.H., Knight, P.A., McPhee, M.L., McEuen, A.R., Forse, P.A. & Miller, H.R. (2003). Purification and characterization of mouse mast cell proteinase-2 and the differential expression and release of mouse mast cell proteinase-1 and -2 in vivo. *Clin Exp Allergy* 33(7), 1005-12.
- Peters, P.J., Borst, J., Oorschot, V., Fukuda, M., Krahenbuhl, O., Tschopp, J., Slot, J.W. & Geuze, H.J. (1991). Cytotoxic T lymphocyte granules are secretory lysosomes, containing both perform and granzymes. J Exp Med 173(5), 1099-109.
- Pierce, A., Lyon, M., Hampson, I.N., Cowling, G.J. & Gallagher, J.T. (1992). Molecular cloning of the major cell surface heparan sulfate proteoglycan from rat liver. J Biol Chem 267(6), 3894–900.
- Pikas, D.S., Eriksson, I. & Kjellen, L. (2000). Overexpression of different isoforms of glucosaminyl N-deacetylase/N-sulfotransferase results in distinct heparan sulfate N-sulfation patterns. *Biochemistry* 39(15), 4552-8.
- Powers, J.C., Tanaka, T., Harper, J.W., Minematsu, Y., Barker, L., Lincoln, D., Crumley, K.V., Fraki, J.E., Schechter, N.M., Lazarus, G.G. & et al. (1985). Mammalian chymotrypsin-like enzymes. Comparative reactivities of rat mast cell proteases, human and dog skin chymases, and human cathepsin G with peptide 4-nitroanilide substrates and with peptide chloromethyl ketone and sulfonyl fluoride inhibitors. *Biochemistry* 24(8), 2048-58.
- Prydz, K. & Dalen, K.T. (2000). Synthesis and sorting of proteoglycans. J Cell Sci 113 Pt 2, 193-205.
- Raats, C.J., Bakker, M.A., Hoch, W., Tamboer, W.P., Groffen, A.J., van den Heuvel, L.P., Berden, J.H. & van den Born, J. (1998). Differential expression of agrin in renal basement membranes as revealed by domainspecific antibodies. J Biol Chem 273(28), 17832–8.
- Raja, S.M., Wang, B., Dantuluri, M., Desai, U.R., Demeler, B., Spiegel, K., Metkar, S.S. & Froelich, C.J. (2002). Cytotoxic cell granule-mediated apoptosis. Characterization of the macromolecular complex of granzyme B with serglycin. J Biol Chem 277(51), 49523-30.
- Rapraeger, A., Jalkanen, M., Endo, E., Koda, J. & Bernfield, M. (1985). The cell surface proteoglycan from mouse mammary epithelial cells bears chondroitin sulfate and heparan sulfate glycosaminoglycans. *J Biol Chem* 260(20), 11046-52.

- Rauch, U., Gao, P., Janetzko, A., Flaccus, A., Hilgenberg, L., Tekotte, H., Margolis, R.K. & Margolis, R.U. (1991). Isolation and characterization of developmentally regulated chondroitin sulfate and chondroitin/keratan sulfate proteoglycans of brain identified with monoclonal antibodies. J Biol Chem 266(22), 14785-801.
- Razin, E., Leslie, K.B. & Schrader, J.W. (1991). Connective tissue mast cells in contact with fibroblasts express IL-3 mRNA. Analysis of single cells by polymerase chain reaction. *J Immunol* 146(3), 981-7.
- Razin, E., Stevens, R.L., Akiyama, F., Schmid, K. & Austen, K.F. (1982). Culture from mouse bone marrow of a subclass of mast cells possessing a distinct chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan with glycosaminoglycans rich in Nacetylgalactosamine-4,6-disulfate. J Biol Chem 257(12), 7229-36.
- Rehn, M., Hintikka, E. & Pihlajaniemi, T. (1996). Characterization of the mouse gene for the alpha 1 chain of type XVIII collagen (Col18a1) reveals that the three variant N-terminal polypeptide forms are transcribed from two widely separated promoters. *Genomics* 32(3), 436-46.
- Revell, P.A., Grossman, W.J., Thomas, D.A., Cao, X., Behl, R., Ratner, J.A., Lu, Z.H. & Ley, T.J. (2005). Granzyme B and the downstream granzymes C and/or F are important for cytotoxic lymphocyte functions. *J Immunol* 174(4), 2124–31.
- Ringvall, M., Ledin, J., Holmborn, K., van Kuppevelt, T., Ellin, F., Eriksson, I., Olofsson, A.M., Kjellen, L. & Forsberg, E. (2000). Defective heparan sulfate biosynthesis and neonatal lethality in mice lacking N-deacetylase/Nsulfotransferase-1. J Biol Chem 275(34), 25926-30.
- Rohrmann, K., Niemann, R. & Buddecke, E. (1985). Two Nacetylgalactosaminyltransferase are involved in the biosynthesis of chondroitin sulfate. *Eur J Biochem* 148(3), 463-9.
- Roughley, P.J., White, R.J., Magny, M.C., Liu, J., Pearce, R.H. & Mort, J.S. (1993). Non-proteoglycan forms of biglycan increase with age in human articular cartilage. *Biochem J* 295 (Pt 2), 421-6.
- Ruoslahti, E. (1996). Brain extracellular matrix. Glycobiology 6(5), 489-92.
- Rupp, F., Payan, D.G., Magill-Solc, C., Cowan, D.M. & Scheller, R.H. (1991). Structure and expression of a rat agrin. *Neuron* 6(5), 811-23.
- Saunders, S. & Bernfield, M. (1988). Cell surface proteoglycan binds mouse mammary epithelial cells to fibronectin and behaves as a receptor for interstitial matrix. *J Cell Biol* 106(2), 423-30.
- Saunders, S., Jalkanen, M., O'Farrell, S. & Bernfield, M. (1989). Molecular cloning of syndecan, an integral membrane proteoglycan. *J Cell Biol* 108(4), 1547-56.
- Saunders, S., Paine-Saunders, S. & Lander, A.D. (1997). Expression of the cell surface proteoglycan glypican-5 is developmentally regulated in kidney, limb, and brain. *Dev Biol* 190(1), 78-93.
- Saxena, U., Klein, M.G. & Goldberg, I.J. (1990). Metabolism of endothelial cellbound lipoprotein lipase. Evidence for heparan sulfate proteoglycanmediated internalization and recycling. J Biol Chem 265(22), 12880-6.

- Schick, B.P., Gradowski, J.F. & San Antonio, J.D. (2001). Synthesis, secretion, and subcellular localization of serglycin proteoglycan in human endothelial cells. *Blood* 97(2), 449-58.
- Schmidt, R.E., MacDermott, R.P., Bartley, G., Bertovich, M., Amato, D.A., Austen, K.F., Schlossman, S.F., Stevens, R.L. & Ritz, J. (1985). Specific release of proteoglycans from human natural killer cells during target lysis. *Nature* 318(6043), 289-91.
- Scholzen, T., Solursh, M., Suzuki, S., Reiter, R., Morgan, J.L., Buchberg, A.M., Siracusa, L.D. & Iozzo, R.V. (1994). The murine decorin. Complete cDNA cloning, genomic organization, chromosomal assignment, and expression during organogenesis and tissue differentiation. J Biol Chem 269(45), 28270-81.
- Schwartz, L.B. (1994). Mast cells: function and contents. Curr Opin Immunol 6(1), 91-7.
- Schwartz, L.B., Irani, A.M., Roller, K., Castells, M.C. & Schechter, N.M. (1987). Quantitation of histamine, tryptase, and chymase in dispersed human T and TC mast cells. *J Immunol* 138(8), 2611-5.
- Schwartz, L.B., Riedel, C., Caulfield, J.P., Wasserman, S.I. & Austen, K.F. (1981). Cell association of complexes of chymase, heparin proteoglycan, and protein after degranulation by rat mast cells. *J Immunol* 126(6), 2071-8.
- Seidenbecher, C.I., Richter, K., Rauch, U., Fassler, R., Garner, C.C. & Gundelfinger, E.D. (1995). Brevican, a chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan of rat brain, occurs as secreted and cell surface glycosylphosphatidylinositolanchored isoforms. J Biol Chem 270(45), 27206-12.
- Serafin, W.E., Dayton, E.T., Gravallese, P.M., Austen, K.F. & Stevens, R.L. (1987). Carboxypeptidase A in mouse mast cells. Identification, characterization, and use as a differentiation marker. *J Immunol* 139(11), 3771-6.
- Shi, L., Mai, S., Israels, S., Browne, K., Trapani, J.A. & Greenberg, A.H. (1997). Granzyme B (GraB) autonomously crosses the cell membrane and perform initiates apoptosis and GraB nuclear localization. J Exp Med 185(5), 855– 66.
- Silbert, J.E. & Sugumaran, G. (1995). Intracellular membranes in the synthesis, transport, and metabolism of proteoglycans. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1241(3), 371-84.
- Smeland, S., Kolset, S.O., Lyon, M., Norum, K.R. & Blomhoff, R. (1997). Binding of perlecan to transthyretin in vitro. *Biochem J* 326 (Pt 3), 829-36.
- Smithies, O., Gregg, R.G., Boggs, S.S., Koralewski, M.A. & Kucherlapati, R.S. (1985). Insertion of DNA sequences into the human chromosomal betaglobin locus by homologous recombination. *Nature* 317(6034), 230-4.
- Stallcup, W.B., Dahlin, K. & Healy, P. (1990). Interaction of the NG2 chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan with type VI collagen. J Cell Biol 111(6 Pt 2), 3177– 88.

- Steinfeld, R., Van Den Berghe, H. & David, G. (1996). Stimulation of fibroblast growth factor receptor-1 occupancy and signaling by cell surface-associated syndecans and glypican. J Cell Biol 133(2), 405-16.
- Stevens, R.L. & Austen, K.F. (1982). Effect of p-nitrophenyl-beta-D-xyloside on proteoglycan and glycosaminoglycan biosynthesis in rat serosal mast cell cultures. J Biol Chem 257(1), 253-9.
- Stevens, R.L., Fox, C.C., Lichtenstein, L.M. & Austen, K.F. (1988). Identification of chondroitin sulfate E proteoglycans and heparin proteoglycans in the secretory granules of human lung mast cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 85(7), 2284-7.
- Stevens, R.L., Razin, E., Austen, K.F., Hein, A., Caulfield, J.P., Seno, N., Schmid, K. & Akiyama, F. (1983). Synthesis of chondroitin sulfate E glycosaminoglycan onto p-nitrophenyl-beta-D-xyloside and its localization to the secretory granules of rat serosal mast cells and mouse bone marrowderived mast cells. J Biol Chem 258(9), 5977-84.
- Stipp, C.S., Litwack, E.D. & Lander, A.D. (1994). Cerebroglycan: an integral membrane heparan sulfate proteoglycan that is unique to the developing nervous system and expressed specifically during neuronal differentiation. J Cell Biol 124(1-2), 149-60.
- Sugahara, K., Mikami, T., Uyama, T., Mizuguchi, S., Nomura, K. & Kitagawa, H. (2003). Recent advances in the structural biology of chondroitin sulfate and dermatan sulfate. *Curr Opin Struct Biol* 13(5), 612–20.
- Sugahara, K., Mizuno, N., Okumura, Y. & Kawasaki, T. (1992). The phosphorylated and/or sulfated structure of the carbohydrate-proteinlinkage region isolated from chondroitin sulfate in the hybrid proteoglycans of Engelbreth-Holm-Swarm mouse tumor. *Eur J Biochem* 204(1), 401-6.
- Supajatura, V., Ushio, H., Nakao, A., Akira, S., Okumura, K., Ra, C. & Ogawa, H. (2002). Differential responses of mast cell Toll-like receptors 2 and 4 in allergy and innate immunity. *J Clin Invest* 109(10), 1351-9.
- Tanaka, S., Hamada, K., Yamada, N., Sugita, Y., Tonai, S., Hunyady, B.,
 Palkovits, M., Falus, A., Watanabe, T., Okabe, S., Ohtsu, H., Ichikawa, A.
 & Nagy, A. (2002). Gastric acid secretion in L-histidine decarboxylasedeficient mice. *Gastroenterology* 122(1), 145-55.
- Tantravahi, R.V., Stevens, R.L., Austen, K.F. & Weis, J.H. (1986). A single gene in mast cells encodes the core peptides of heparin and chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 83(23), 9207-10.
- Tchougounova, E., Forsberg, E., Angelborg, G., Kjellen, L. & Pejler, G. (2001). Altered processing of fibronectin in mice lacking heparin. a role for heparin-dependent mast cell chymase in fibronectin degradation. J Biol Chem 276(6), 3772-7.
- Tchougounova, E., Lundequist, A., Fajardo, I., Winberg, J.O., Abrink, M. & Pejler, G. (2005). A key role for mast cell chymase in the activation of promatrix metalloprotease-9 and pro-matrix metalloprotease-2. J Biol Chem 280(10), 9291-6.



- Tchougounova, E. & Pejler, G. (2001). Regulation of extravascular coagulation and fibrinolysis by heparin-dependent mast cell chymase. *FASEB J* 15(14), 2763-5.
- Tchougounova, E., Pejler, G. & Abrink, M. (2003). The chymase, mouse mast cell protease 4, constitutes the major chymotrypsin-like activity in peritoneum and ear tissue. A role for mouse mast cell protease 4 in thrombin regulation and fibronectin turnover. *J Exp Med* 198(3), 423-31.
- Tooze, S.A., Martens, G.J. & Huttner, W.B. (2001). Secretory granule biogenesis: rafting to the SNARE. *Trends Cell Biol* 11(3), 116-22.
- Toyama-Sorimachi, N., Sorimachi, H., Tobita, Y., Kitamura, F., Yagita, H., Suzuki, K. & Miyasaka, M. (1995). A novel ligand for CD44 is serglycin, a hematopoietic cell lineage-specific proteoglycan. Possible involvement in lymphoid cell adherence and activation. *J Biol Chem* 270(13), 7437-44.
- Trapani, J.A. & Smyth, M.J. (2002). Functional significance of the perforin/granzyme cell death pathway. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2(10), 735-47.
- Tsai, F.Y. & Orkin, S.H. (1997). Transcription factor GATA-2 is required for proliferation/survival of early hematopoietic cells and mast cell formation, but not for erythroid and myeloid terminal differentiation. *Blood* 89(10), 3636-43.
- Vertel, B.M., Walters, L.M., Flay, N., Kearns, A.E. & Schwartz, N.B. (1993). Xylosylation is an endoplasmic reticulum to Golgi event. J Biol Chem 268(15), 11105-12.
- Veugelers, M., Vermeesch, J., Watanabe, K., Yamaguchi, Y., Marynen, P. & David, G. (1998). GPC4, the gene for human K-glypican, flanks GPC3 on xq26: deletion of the GPC3-GPC4 gene cluster in one family with Simpson-Golabi-Behmel syndrome. *Genomics* 53(1), 1-11.
- Vischer, P., Feitsma, K., Schon, P. & Volker, W. (1997). Perlecan is responsible for thrombospondin 1 binding on the cell surface of cultured porcine endothelial cells. *Eur J Cell Biol* 73(4), 332-43.
- Wayner, E.A. & Carter, W.G. (1987). Identification of multiple cell adhesion receptors for collagen and fibronectin in human fibrosarcoma cells possessing unique alpha and common beta subunits. J Cell Biol 105(4), 1873-84.
- Whitaker-Menezes, D., Schechter, N.M. & Murphy, G.F. (1995). Serine proteinases are regionally segregated within mast cell granules. *Lab Invest* 72(1), 34-41.
- Whitelock, J.M., Murdoch, A.D., Iozzo, R.V. & Underwood, P.A. (1996). The degradation of human endothelial cell-derived perlecan and release of bound basic fibroblast growth factor by stromelysin, collagenase, plasmin, and heparanases. *J Biol Chem* 271(17), 10079-86.
- Wolters, P.J., Pham, C.T., Muilenburg, D.J., Ley, T.J. & Caughey, G.H. (2001). Dipeptidyl peptidase I is essential for activation of mast cell chymases, but not tryptases, in mice. *J Biol Chem* 276(21), 18551-6.

- Yamagata, M., Suzuki, S., Akiyama, S.K., Yamada, K.M. & Kimata, K. (1989). Regulation of cell-substrate adhesion by proteoglycans immobilized on extracellular substrates. J Biol Chem 264(14), 8012-8.
- Yamaguchi, Y. (1996). Brevican: a major proteoglycan in adult brain. *Perspect Dev Neurobiol* 3(4), 307-17.
- Yamaguchi, Y., Mann, D.M. & Ruoslahti, E. (1990). Negative regulation of transforming growth factor-beta by the proteoglycan decorin. *Nature* 346(6281), 281-4.
- Yurt, R.W., Leid, R.W., Jr. & Austen, K.F. (1977). Native heparin from rat peritoneal mast cells. J Biol Chem 252(2), 518-21.
- Zako, M., Shinomura, T., Ujita, M., Ito, K. & Kimata, K. (1995). Expression of PG-M(V3), an alternatively spliced form of PG-M without a chondroitin sulfate attachment in region in mouse and human tissues. J Biol Chem 270(8), 3914-8.
- Zatterstrom, U.K., Felbor, U., Fukai, N. & Olsen, B.R. (2000). Collagen XVIII/endostatin structure and functional role in angiogenesis. *Cell Struct Funct* 25(2), 97-101.
- Zernichow, L., Abrink, M., Hallgren, J., Grujic, M., Pejler, G. & Kolset, S.O. (2006). Serglycin is the major secreted proteoglycan in macrophages and has a role in the regulation of macrophage tumor necrosis factor-alpha secretion in response to lipopolysaccharide. *J Biol Chem* 281(37), 26792-801.
- Zimmermann, D.R., Dours-Zimmermann, M.T., Schubert, M. & Bruckner-Tuderman, L. (1994). Versican is expressed in the proliferating zone in the epidermis and in association with the elastic network of the dermis. *J Cell Biol* 124(5), 817-25.
- Zon, L.I., Gurish, M.F., Stevens, R.L., Mather, C., Reynolds, D.S., Austen, K.F. & Orkin, S.H. (1991). GATA-binding transcription factors in mast cells regulate the promoter of the mast cell carboxypeptidase A gene. J Biol Chem 266(34), 22948-53.

Acknowledgements

The work presented in this thesis was carried out at the Department of Anatomy, Physiology and Biochemistry, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences.

So I have reached the top of the mountain...four years of great experiences, happy and stressful moments, laughter, some tears, but above all, very rewarding to live them all. I would like to take the opportunity to thank all the people that surrounded me during this unforgettable journey. This thesis is dedicated to all of you!!!

First and foremost, I would like to thank **Gunnar Pejler**, my supervisor. Thank you for giving me the opportunity to work in your group, for your guidance throughout the projects, your immense scientific knowledge, help and support, and your ability to see always positive aspects even when things did not go well. It has been a great pleasure to be part of your group.

Past and present members of the group:

Magnus; for being so talented in the field of molecular biology and for your optimistic view of things, both scientific and non-scientific. For being such a good influence around the lab, and for always be willing to help.

Mirjana; my first "guide" into this field and into the lab work. You have been a true inspiration, you taught me a lot and I will always be grateful for that. It was an honor to "serve" under your commands...

Ida; for your friendship, for "putting up" with me everyday, for such nice talks about every aspects of life, and for all funny moments. I am sorry I was



such a lousy Swedish student...Men du är en mycket bra svenskalärare! NOT!

Elin and Annette; my other two roommates. Thank you for bringing joy and good mood to "our" small room and to the lab. For your company and good moments in fika time.

Osama; for having such a relaxed attitude around the lab.

Sara Wernersson; for your great scientific knowledge and ideas.

Maria Ringvall; for always bring a good mood to the lab.

Frida, Jenny and Anders; for all your help when I was just a "rookie"

Present and past members of the department

Kerstin Nordling; for all the help and infinite patience, when I was walking like a fool searching for chemicals or with doubts regarding many other things.

Piotr Wlad; the "Master of the Masters" in computers. It is amazing what you can do, and I am incredibly grateful for the times (and they were many...!!!) that you "saved" me with those magic hands. And what a great sense of humor.

Kersti Larsson; for always be willing to help with any question regarding "bureaucratic" issues.

Hanna, Maria, Anna R., Charlotte, Elena, Hanan, Ingemar Björk, Jan, Jay, Liya, Jenny P., Siwei, Anna S., Margaretha, Louise, My, Staffan, Urmimala; for contributing for a nice department atmosphere, and for all the help given when I needed.

The Marie Curie network of Mast Cells in Chronic Inflammation and Disease (MCCID)

To all the professors involved in this network, Gunnar Nilsson, Petri Kovanen, Santa Ono, Giuliano Zabucchi, Stefan Bischoff, Ilkka Harvima, Juan Rivera and especially, Ulrich Blank for "creating" this network, and for such nice and interesting scientific meetings arranged during these last four years.

To all the students of the MCCID network, Cho Cho Aye, Nevenka Medic, Julia Trosien, Cristiana Brochetta, Julia Scandiuzzi, Nicolae Diaconu, Yves Montier and Ricardo Carvalho; for being part of this group, for all the fun we had during these "serious" meetings. It has been a great pleasure to share this experience with you guys! Hope to see you in the near future.

Family and friends

Because life is not only work, I would like to thank **all the people** that have crossed with me in this journey outside the walls of BMC! Either in Uppsala, in Portugal, or in any corner of the World, you have helped me and supported me a lot and mainly, made me relax and enjoy simple pleasures of life such as your company and friendship. Especially, I would like to thank:

Cátia, Marta, João, Ritinha, Mik, Sininho, João Osório, Pássaro, João Pedro; for your loving support and friendship even though we were kilometers apart.

The "gang of 2005"; Almudena, Teresa, Pablo, Javier, Beni, Pedro, Steph; for all the great parties and crazyness. We have to arrange another meeting! Ultuna Noise Corporation!!!

Ana, Gisela, Ana Sofia, Miguel, Helena, Ricardo, Roberta, Justyna, Iban, Henrik L., Henrik, Jordi, Pilar, Arnold, Xavi, Gusti, Miki, Manuela; for all those great times together.

Francisco; for all the great conversations we had

Petro; for having the coolest and greatest bar in Uppsala, for letting me release all the stress to the sound of Rock n' Roll, for loving Portugal and being a really cool dude.

Jorge André; for your incredible faith in me, and for being an excellent person. I am sure little Emil will be proud of having you as a father.

Stefano Dipierro; for being such a crazy guy and a good friend. It is impossible not to have fun with you around!



David Pizá "Pavel"; "Loca", what would have I done without you? Your warm friendship, the words carrying wisdom and fraternity, your positive view of life were always an inspiration! Anytime, anywhere...whenever you need.

Vanda; for all your positive energy and for always having a good advice to give!

Sergio; "mi compañero", for looking out for me, for all the words of comfort in difficult times, for the wine tastings and all the stories we lived together! WE WON FORSRÄNNINGEN 2008!! MARIAS CON TOMATES!!! Y como dice Coldplay: VIVA LA VIDA!

Adolfo; for your friendship, companionship and for the strength given! For all the nights we "drummed the air" in **Bullit**! What about our singing shows with our "Heinekens"?! And our version of "With or without you"...pure magic...Unforgettable!

Sara; for your unconditional friendship, for your patience, for your "honey voice" when singing those Portuguese songs, for the joy you always bring to the ones surrounding you, especially me! And WE WON FORSRÄNNINGEN 2008!!! I count myself fortunate for having you as a friend!

And last, but not least, my family:

To my Mum, for you incredible patience, for always supporting me and for being who you are. You are the best mother in the world! I love you!

To my sister Filipa, "MANA", for your unconditional support, for being always "there" with a word, and advice, an opinion...For your love!

To my Dad, for teaching me valuable lessons of life, for always being a friend. I cannot possibly express by words my gratitude for everything you gave me and how blessed I feel for being your son! Wherever you are, I hope I made you proud! And I am sure you are watching out for me. Tenho saudades tuas, "meu velho".